Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

5-2011

A Study on the Applications and Toxicity Assessments of Carbon Nanotubes in Tissue Engineering

Rena Baktur Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Biology Commons, and the Biomedical Engineering and Bioengineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Baktur, Rena, "A Study on the Applications and Toxicity Assessments of Carbon Nanotubes in Tissue Engineering" (2011). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 928. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/928

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



A STUDY ON THE APPLICATIONS AND TOXICITY ASSESSMENTS OF

CARBON NANOTUBES IN TISSUE ENGINEERING

by

Rena Baktur

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Biological Engineering

Approved:

Dr. Soonjo Kwon Major Professor Dr. Tapas Kar Committee Member

Dr. David Britt Committee Member Byron Burnham Dean of Graduate Studies

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

2011

Copyright © Rena Baktur 2011

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

A Study on the Applications and Toxicity Assessments of Carbon Nanotubes in Tissue Engineering

by

Rena Baktur, Master of Science

Utah State University, 2011

Major Professor: Dr. Soonjo Kwon Department: Biological Engineering

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are one of the most popular nanomaterials. There has been increasing interest in the development and applications of carbon nanotubes due to their huge potential in industrial and medical applications. Recent applications of carbon nanotubes include development of scaffolds and drug delivery systems. Despite rapidly emerging applications of CNTs, little is known about the impact of CNTs on cellular processes, especially mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)'s differentiation. Also, the effects of nanoparticle exposure under different conditions on cellular responses have not been well characterized yet.

To characterize the effects of CNTs on creating nanoscale scaffolds for tissue engineering, we incorporated multi-walled CNTs (MWCNTs) into reconstituted type I collagen, and evaluated proliferation, differentiation, mineralization and inflammatory response of MSC on those scaffolds. MWCNTs were homogeneously distributed in collagen matrix, and strongly entrapped in collagen at the concentrations below 100 ppm. Alkaline phosphatase (AP) activity and mineralized nodules of extracellular matrix (ECM) were monitored as osteogenic differentiation markers. AP activity was significantly increased in 12 days after being replaced by differentiating media. Collagen enhanced AP activity, and MWCNT-collagen scaffolds induced additional increase in AP activity. The MSC released a significantly higher level of AP on MWCNT-collagen scaffolds than the plastic surface did at day 16. An increasing percentage of ECM mineralization was seen at day 16 after being replaced by differentiating media in the presence of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. This study indicated the possibility of enhancement in MSC differentiation in the MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. The increased level of differentiation markers was due to the increased stiffness of the scaffolds for MSC. Our data indicated that the collagen-MWCNT scaffolds might have the potential application to create nanoscale scaffold materials for tissue engineering.

To illustrate the effects of interleukin-8 (IL-8) expression in human alveolar epithelial cells (A549) under various exposure conditions of CNT, we measured the level of IL-8 expression in the presence and absence of serum following exposure of SWCNTs. The results demonstrated that the IL-8 expression was enhanced in the presence of serum. The IL-8 expression kept increasing at low concentration even after removing SWCNTs from the media. Further studies are required to characterize biological functions and toxicological potentials of nanomaterials.

(99 pages)

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This thesis would not exist without the support of several influential people. I wish to express sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Soonjo Kwon. Thanks for his guidance and instruction on my research in those years, his enthusiastic encouragement on my study and my entire research. I am also very grateful for the mentorship of Dr. David Britt and Dr. Tapas Kar in my advisory committee, who spent lots of time helping me with the problem I faced in my projects. In addition, thanks to everyone in the Integrated Tissue Engineering Laboratory (ITEL) who played some role in my research. I would like to express my appreciation to Hemang Patel, who helped me a lot during those years. Hemang has enlightened me not only on my research, but also on the development of insight into living. Most importantly, I would like to thank the department of Biological Engineering for their supporting and help during those years.

I have been blessed with supportive family and friends who have helped me on the road to this degree. I have incredible parents, who have always being positive and uplifting, and always supporting (and cheerleading) whatever choices I made for my personal and educational goals. I would certainly not be where I am today without their love and encouragement. I am so grateful for my sister Reyhan Baktur, who provided me not just a house to live in for three years, but also love and encouragement throughout my years at USU. Also, I am grateful to all my friends in China, especially to Greece, who has always encouraged me to be strong. I love them all.

Rena Baktur

CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS v
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABREVIATIONS
CHAPTER
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background11.2 Motivation and Objectives of Research3References5
2 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Carbon Nanotubes
2.2.1 Application in Biomedical: Cancer, Drug, and Matrix
2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cells152.4 Toxicisity Assessment of Carbon Nanotubes
2.4.1 In Vivo Toxicology Studies: Rat, Pig, Fish202.3.2 In Vitro Toxicology Studies24
References
3 CARBON NANOTUBE-COLLAGEN SCAFFOLDS FOR MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS' DIFFERENTIATION: CHANGES IN ALKALINE
PHOSPHATASE EXPRESSION AND MINERALIZATION
3.1 Abstract363.2 Introduction373.3 Materials and Methods39

3.3.1 Materials and Reagents	39
3.3.2 Culture and Seeding of MSC	39
3.3.3 Dispersion of MWCNTs	39
3.3.4 Preparation of MWCNTs-Collagen Scaffolds	40
3.3.5 Cell Viability Assay	40
3.3.6 Quantification of DNA Contents	41
3 3 7 Alkaline Phosphatase (AP) Activity	41
3.3.8 Interleukin 8 Expression	42
3 3 9 Von Kossa Staining	42
3 3 10 Measurement of Mechanical and Surface Property of MWCNT-Collagen	12
Scaffolds	50
3 3 11 Statistical Analysis	/3
5.5.11 Statistical Analysis	45
3.4 Results	44
3.4.1 Effect of Concentration of MWCNTs on MSC' Differentiation in MWCNT-	
Collagen Scaffolds	44
3.4.2 Effects of Different Types of MWCNT-Collagen Scaffolds on MSC'	
Differentiation	44
3.4.3 Effects of Different Types of MWCNT-Collagen Scaffolds on the Formation	of
Mineralized Matrix Nodules	45
3.4.4 Effects of MWCNT-Collagen Scaffolds on Cell Viability and Cell	
Proliferation	45
3.4.5 Effects of MWCNT-Collagen Scaffolds on Inflammatory Response	45
3.4.6 Mechanical Properties of MWCNT-Collagen Scaffolds	45
2.5 Discussion	16
Discussion	40 57
Kererences	57
4 EFFECT OF EXPOSURE CONDITIONS ON SWCNT-INDUCED	
INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE IN HUMAN ALVEOLAR EPITHELIAL CELL	S
	60
4.1 Abstract	60
4.2 Introduction	60
4.3 Materials and Methods	62
4.3.1 Materials and Reagents	62
4.3.2 Cell Culture	63
4.3.3 Experimental Design	63
4.3.4 Preparation of SWCNTs	64
4.3.5 Cell Proliferation Assay	65
4.3.6 Interleukin 8 Expression	65
4.3.7 Statistical Analysis	65
4.4 Results	66

4.4.1 Effects of SWCNTs on Cell Proliferation and IL-8 Expression in Serum-	
containing and Serum-free media	66
4.4.2 Effects of Exposure Time on Cell Proliferation and IL-8 Expression at	
Different Concentrations of SWCNTs	66
4.4.3 Effects of Recovery Time on SWCNT-induced IL-8 Expression and Cell	
Proliferation	66
4.4.3 Effects of Dynamic Environment on SWCNT-induced IL-8 Expression and	
Cell Proliferation	67
4.5 Discussion	68
References	80
SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	85
5.1 Summary and Conclusions	85
5.1.1 Applications of CNT-Collagen Scaffolds in Tissue Engineering	85
5.1.2 Toxicity Assessment of SWCNTs	86
5.2 Recommendations	86

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
2.1 Detailed information of carbon nanotube(CNTs)	10
2.2 Pulmonary toxicity studies of CNTs in animals	21
2.3 Examples of the toxic effects of CNTs from <i>in vitro</i> studies	25

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
2.1 Number of publications on CNTs applications in biomaterials by year10
2.2 Different stages of MSC osteoblast differentiation
2.3 Biomarker produced during different stages of MSC differentiations
3.1 The Effects of MWCNTs on AP activity of cultured MSC in MWCNT-collagen scaffolds
3.2 Transparency of collagen, collagen0 MWCNT composite materials coated dishes
3.3 AP activity of MSC cultured on the different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds at 0, 4, 8, and 12 days
3.4 Von Kossa staining of MSC cultured on different cell culture matrixes51
3.5 Viability (a) and proliferation (b) of MSC cultured on MWCNT-collagen scaffolds
3.6 IL-6 expressions from MSC on different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds
3.7 Contact angle measurements on various MWCNT-collagen scaffolds
3.8 Measurements of elastic modulus in collagen gels with varying MWCNT-COOH concentration
4.1 Effects of SWCNTs on IL-8 expression and total protein concentration in serum- containing and serum-free media
4.2 Effects of Exposure Time on IL-8 Expression and total protein concentration at different concentrations of SWNCT

4.3 Effects of Recovery Time on IL-8 expression and total protein concentration after 6 hours exposure	73
4.4 Effects of Recovery Time on IL-8 expression and total protein concentration after 24 hours exposure	75
4.5 Effects of dynamic environment on IL-8 expression and total protein concentration	77

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

CNTs	Carbon Nanotubes
SWCNTs	Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes
MWCNTs	Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes
AP	Alkaline Phosphatase
β-GP	β-glycerophosphate
CIAP	Calf Intestinal Alkaline Phosphatase
Dex	Dexamethasone
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
ECM	Extra Cellular Matrix
EtOH	Ethanol
FBS	
IL-6	Interleukine 6
IL-8	Interleukine 8
L-AA	L-Ascorbic Acid
MSC	Mesenchymal Stem Cells
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor κΒ
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline Solution
RANK	Receptor Activator of NF-кВ
RANKL	Receptor Activator of NF-кВ ligand

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Over the past decade, rapid development in nanoscience and nanotechnology has resulted in the successful synthesis and characterization of various inorganic nanomaterials.¹⁻³ The unique physical properties of the nanopaticles, such as their extremely small size, make them highly suitable for a wide range of biological and medical applications. In all those nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes (CNTs) have been the focus of intense research that was motivated by their unique physical, chemical and mechanical properties, since they were discovered by Iijima in 1991.⁴

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are a new generation of materials possessing superior mechanical, thermal, and electrical properties.^{5,6} They are mosaics of carbon atoms that form graphene sheets and curl into seamless tubules. CNTs are classified as single-walled CNTs (SWCNTs) and multi-walled CNTs (MWCNTs) based on the number of graphene layers. CNTs exhibit unique properties that have made them an attractive material for the application in molecular electronics,⁷ medical diagnostics, biosensors,⁸ and drug delivery carriers.⁹

The CNTs have been proposed for biomedical applications, such as cell tracking and labeling, nano-sensors, and vehicling for controlled release of drugs, and vehicling for delivery of bioactive agents. Synthetic polymers and CNTs have demonstrated promise for these materials in neural and orthopedic tissue engineering applications. When CNTs are used as scaffold materials in regenerative medicine, especially in bone tissue engineering, they are in direct contact with the bone. These included implants for arthroplasty, bone fracture, dental treatment and scaffolds for bone tissue regeneration. The reaction of the bone cells to CNTs is critical for functional maintenance of the biomaterials for a long time in the tissues. Recently, there have been several reports on the application of CNTs for scaffolds. For example, CNTs coated with bioactive molecules were used as substrates for nerve cell growth.¹⁰ Also in Webster's study they reported that carbon nanofibers increased osteoblast functions. MacDonald reported a collagen-SWCNT composite for cell culture substrate.¹¹ However, there is a limit amount of information about the CNT and collagen mixture scaffold for stem cell growth. This give researchers a new idea to use collagen-CNT composite to check stem cell biocompatibility.

On the other hand, enthusiasm for CNTs use has been tempered by relevant concerns regarding their toxicity. The high aspect ratio of CNTs made them easily become airborne and inhaled. The evaluation of their pulmonary effects has received a considerable amount of interest and emerge studies investigate the toxicity of CNTs *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Most of the emerging literatures on the toxicity of CNTs on the lung tissue of various animal models have been reported and appared to be inconsistent amony the research findings. Some of the researches confirmed that CNTs can have toxic effects, and some of the toxic effects in mammals have been attributed to high concentration of CNTs. There also have been a range of *in vitro* studies using human or mammalian cell lines to investigate the toxicity mechanisms, which suggest that oxidative stress, inflammation reactions, and immune toxicity may be key features of CNT toxicity. Most of the studies that suggest CNT toxicity used a high concentration of CNT to expose the cell line or to inject the animal. However, there was no specific number about how much

CNT will get inhaled in to human body and in the environment. Small amount of CNTs inhaled effect is still unknown and the machines of CNTs to airway inflammation reactions need to be indicated.

1.2 Motivation and Objectives of Research

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and other carbon nanomaterials are of interest for biological and medical applications because of their high chemical durability, mechanical strength and electrical properties. Studies on the applications of carbon nanomaterials have been carried for the substrate of cell culture,¹²⁻¹⁴ drug delivery systems^{15,16} and medical implant materials.¹⁷ Several studies have shown that cells have high affinity to CNTs.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Other studies that showed the bone cell affinity to CNTs and bone formations on sintered MWCNTs²¹. During those studies, MacDonalds provided a good idea for using collagen and CNTs to make a good composite material, which show high mechanical strength and good cell viability. However, until now there are no studies that use collagens - CNTs composite materials to make a scaffold to culture mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), especially a good composite material with good optically transparent. Thus, in our study, we

a) Designed CNTs-collagen composite scaffolds using different types of MWCNTs (functionalized and non-functionalized) with good optically transparent.

b) Estimated mesenchymal stem cell's viability, differentiation, mineralization and inflammatory response on those types of CNTs-collagen scaffolds.

c) Measured the mechanical properties of those CNTs-collagen scaffolds.

Carbon nanotubes have gained enormous popularity due to a variety of potential applications which will ultimately lead to increased human and environmental exposure to these nanoparticles. The lung is regarded as one of the main portals of entry for nanoparticles, which emphasizes the importance of pulmonary toxicity evaluation. The lung epithelium plays an important role in the modulation of inflammatory processes by releasing inflammatory cytokines such as IL-8 and nitric oxide ²²⁻²⁴. However, the effects of concentration, exposure time, media component and aggregation of CNTs on cellular toxicity and their mechanisms have not been well defined. In the second study, we estimated effect of exposure conditions on SWCNT-induced inflammatory response in human alveolar epithelial cells. This study was spurred by the following fundamental questions:

a) What other environmental factors (e.g. exposure time, media components) may affect the SWCNTs related inflammatory responses or cellular toxicity?

b) Is SWCNTS induced inflammatory response alleviated by removing SWCNTS following exposure?

Chapter 1 describes general introduction and motivations of studies on the applications and toxicity assessments of carbon nanotubes in tissue engineering. In chapter 2, Literature Review introduced researches about the CNTs biomedical applications, especially in bone tissue engineering applications. It also looked at the toxicity study of CNTs, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, especially on human alveolar epithelial cells. Chapter 3 exhibited the research related to effect of Carbon nanotubes –collagen composite scaffold on mesenchymal stem cell proliferation, differentiation, mineralization and inflammatory response. Chapter 4 contained the study about the effect of exposure conditions on SWCNT-induced inflammatory response in human alveolar

epithelial cells. Based on the experimental data in chapter 3 and chapter 4, conclusions and recommendations were given in chapter 5.

References

- 1. Lu, A.H., Salabas, E.L. & Schuth, F. Magnetic nanoparticles: synthesis, protection, functionalization, and application. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* **46**, 1222-1244 (2007).
- 2. Nadworny, P.L., Wang, J., Tredget, E.E. & Burrell, R.E. Anti-inflammatory activity of nanocrystalline silver in a porcine contact dermatitis model. *Nanomedicine* **4**, 241-251 (2008).
- 3. Tasis, D., Tagmatarchis, N., Bianco, A. & Prato, M. Chemistry of carbon nanotubes. *Chem Rev* **106**, 1105-1136 (2006).
- 4. Iijima, S. Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon. *Nature* **354**, 56-58 (1991).
- 5. Kang, I.P., *et al.* Introduction to carbon nanotube and nanofiber smart materials. *Compos. Pt. B-Eng.* **37**, 382-394 (2006).
- 6. Salvetat-Delmotte, J.P. & Rubio, A. Mechanical properties of carbon nanotubes: a fiber digest for beginners. *Carbon* **40**, 1729-1734 (2002).
- 7. Cai, H., Cao, X., Jiang, Y., He, P. & Fang, Y. Carbon nanotube-enhanced electrochemical DNA biosensor for DNA hybridization detection. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **375**, 287-293 (2003).
- 8. Lu, F.S., *et al.* Advances in bioapplications of carbon nanotubes. *Adv. Mater.* **21**, 139-152 (2009).
- 9. Li, S.S., He, H., Jiao, Q.C. & Chuong, P.H. Applications of carbon nanotubes in drug and gene delivery. *Prog. Chem.* **20**, 1798-1803 (2008).
- 10. Mattson, M.P., Haddon, R.C. & Rao, A.M. Molecular functionalization of carbon nanotubes and use as substrates for neuronal growth. *J Mol Neurosci* **14**, 175-182 (2000).
- 11. MacDonald, R.A., Laurenzi, B.F., Viswanathan, G., Ajayan, P.M. & Stegemann, J.P. Collagen-carbon nanotube composite materials as scaffolds in tissue engineering. *J Biomed Mater Res A* **74**, 489-496 (2005).
- 12. Price, R.L., Waid, M.C., Haberstroh, K.M. & Webster, T.J. Selective bone cell adhesion on formulations containing carbon nanofibers. *Biomaterials* **24**, 1877-1887 (2003).

- 13. Correa-Duarte, M.A., *et al.* Fabrication and biocompatibility of carbon nanotubebased 3D networks as scaffolds for cell seeding and growth. *Nano Lett.* **4**, 2233-2236 (2004).
- Hu, H., Ni, Y.C., Montana, V., Haddon, R.C. & Parpura, V. Chemically functionalized carbon nanotubes as substrates for neuronal growth. *Nano Lett.* 4, 507-511 (2004).
- 15. Ajima, K., Yudasaka, M., Maigne, A., Miyawaki, J. & Iijima, S. Effect of functional groups at hole edges on cisplatin release from inside single-wall carbon nanohorns. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **110**, 5773-5778 (2006).
- 16. Feazell, R.P., Nakayama-Ratchford, N., Dai, H. & Lippard, S.J. Soluble singlewalled carbon nanotubes as longboat delivery systems for Platinum(IV) anticancer drug design. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **129**, 8438-+ (2007).
- 17. Wang, W., *et al.* Mechanical properties and biological behavior of carbon nanotube/polycarbosilane composites for implant materials. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part B* **82B**, 223-230 (2007).
- MacDonald, R.A., Laurenzi, B.F., Viswanathan, G., Ajayan, P.M. & Stegemann, J.P. Collagen-carbon nanotube composite materials as scaffolds in tissue engineering. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 74A, 489-496 (2005).
- Aoki, N., Akasaka, T., Watari, F. & Yokoyama, A. Carbon nanotubes as scaffolds for cell culture and effect on cellular functions. *Dent. Mater. J.* 26, 178-185 (2007).
- 20. Aoki, N., *et al.* Cell culture on a carbon nanotube scaffold. *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.* **1**, 402-405 (2005).
- 21. Wang, W., *et al.* Mechanical properties and biological behavior of carbon nanotube/polycarbosilane composites for implant materials. *J. Biomed. Mater.Res B Appl. Biomater.* **82**, 223-230 (2007).
- 22. Chou, C.C., *et al.* Single-walled carbon nanotubes can induce pulmonary injury in mouse model. *Nano Lett.* **8**, 437-445 (2008).
- 23. Lam, C.W., James, J.T., McCluskey, R., Arepalli, S. & Hunter, R.L. A review of carbon nanotube toxicity and assessment of potential occupational and environmental health risks. *Crit. Rev. Toxicol.* **36**, 189-217 (2006).
- 24. Herzog, E., *et al.* SWCNT suppress inflammatory mediator responses in human lung epithelium in vitro. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **234**, 378-390 (2009).

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Carbon nanotubes

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are one of the new class materials for industrial and biomedical applications. Sumio Iijima discovered multiwall CNT (MWCNTs) in 1991 by an arc-discharge method.^{1,2} After two years, he made the observation of single-walled nanotubes (SWCNTs).³ Since then, CNTs have captured the attention of researchers worldwide.

CNTs are allotropes of carbon with a cylindrical nanostructure. They are a seamless cylindrical sheet of graphite whose diameter is nano scale and its aspect ratio (diameter verses length ration up to 132000000:1) is significantly larger than any other materials.⁴ CNTs not only exhibit extraordinary strength but also are the stiffest materials have been found on the earth yet.

CNTs are categorized as SWCNTs and multi-walled nanotubes (MWCNTs). A SWCNT is a nano size tube formed by bonded carbon atoms arranged in a hexagonal pattern. An individual SWCNT is a very thin tube at least several micrometers long, the diameter of the SWCNTs are vary between about 0.7 and 3 nm,⁵ with an aspect ratio greater than 1000.⁶ Structurally, it resembles a rolled up single layer of graphite sheet. MWCNTs have two or more concentric layers with various diameters (generally range from 10 to 200 nm)⁷ and lengths. MWCNTs generally exist in single tubes and form very few bundles. Both of SWCNTs and MWCNTs have van der Waals forces between the molecules, this causes them to aggregate into microscopic bundles or topes. However, the MWCNTs are less effective than the SWCNTs.⁸

On the other hand, the lack of solubility and the difficult manipulation in any solvents have imposed great limitations to the use of CNT. They can be dispersed in some solvents by sonication, but precipitation immediately occurs when this process is interrupted. It has been demonstrated that CNT can interact with different classes of compounds⁹⁻¹¹. Extensive research on CNTs focuses on modifying CNTs by adding specific chemical groups, leading to a significant change in their properties (Like –OH, - COOH, -NH₂).

Commercially, CNTs are produced from carbon atoms found in graphite by arc discharge , by pulsed laser vaporization¹², and by a chemical-vapor deposition (CVD) process¹³. Nowadays, the most common synthesis method is the HiPco process which was developed in the Smalley's laboratory¹⁴. CNTs samples invariably contain some residual impurities. Usually they are metals, organics, and support materials. The most commonly used metals in CNT synthesis are Co, Fe, Ni and Mo. Post production processing removes the majority of metal catalyst. However, CNTs may still contain some residual metal by mass. In our research, we used many different types and different sizes of CNTs. All CNTs we bought are made by HiPco method. The Table 2.1 showed the detail information about the MWCNTs we used in our research.

2.2 Carbon Nanotubes Applications

The nano scale of nature has logically given rise to the interest in using nanomaterials for tissue engineering and biomedical field. In the medical field, biomaterials are expected to be developed using CNTs for clinical use. Since 2000, with CNT high aspect ratio, electrical and physical properties, there has been an approximate doubling each year of articles related to CNT for use in biomedical application. Also the research have increased rapidly from 2005 and continue to increase (Figure 2.1).¹⁵ However, there have been only a few cases of a truly clinical application to date, and therefore the use of CNTs in biomaterials must be considered to be at an early experimental stage.

2.2.1 Application in biomedical: cancer, drug, and matrix

Applications of CNTs in the field of biotechnology have recently started to emerge, raising great hopes. CNTs have been proposed as a component for DNA and protein biosensors ^{16,17}, ion channel blockers ¹⁸ and bioseparators and biocatalysts ¹⁹. Concerning the biomedical applications of CNTs, their use is becoming relevant in neuroscience research and tissue engineering. Cell tracking and labeling, sensing cellular behavior, augmenting cellular behavior and enhancing tissue matrices are the four areas that CNT can be used in tissue engineering ²⁰. CNTs have also been used as a new platform to detect antibodies associated with human autoimmune diseases with high specificity ²¹. In a similar context, CNT covalently have been modified at their open ends with DNA and RNA, and have led to innovative systems for hybridization of complementary DNA strands allowing for ultrasensitive DNA detection ²².

Carbon nanotubes have potential novel application in nanomedicine as biocompatible and supportive substrates, and as pharmaceutical excipients for creating versatile drug delivery systems. The applications of CNTs as drug excipients are of interest, given their capacity to interact with macromolecules such as proteins and DNA ²³. There are some research showed that functionalized carbon nanotubes used as vectors for *in vitro* delivery of small molecules ²⁴, a potential vector for transporting proteins,

peptides, and genes in to the nucleus ²⁵⁻²⁷. Efforts are continuing to develop novel systems for the delivery of protective antigens.

Types	Outside diameter	Inside diameter	Length	Components Contents (%)			
				С	Cl	Fe	Ni
MWCNT	20-30nm	5-10nm	10-30 µm	98.35	0.45	0.26	0.94
Short MWCNT	20-30nm	5-10nm	0.5-2.0 µm	98.34	0.47	0.24	0.94
MWCNT-OH	20-30nm	5-10nm	10-30 µm	98.37	0.47	0.23	0.93
Short MWCNT-OH	20-30nm	5-10nm	0.5-2.0 µm	98.32	0.48	0.25	0.94
MWCNT-COOH	20-30nm	5-10nm	10-30 µm	98.39	0.45	0.23	0.93
Short MWCNT-COOH	20-30nm	5-10nm	0.5-2.0 µm	98.34	0.46	0.25	0.94

Table 2.1 Carbon Nanotubes (CNTs) detail information



Figure 2.1 Number of publications on CNTs applications in biomaterials by year

CNTs are also potential biocompatible materials that can serve as a supportive matrix. The matrix plays a critical role in tissue engineering. It is responsible for defining the space the engineered tissue occupies and aiding the process of tissue development. Compared to the polymers, CNTs can easily functionalized and have good mechanical strength. CNTs have the potential for providing the need structural reinforcement for tissue scaffolds. Adding CNTs in to polymer can significantly improve the mechanical strength of the materials. In Wang et.al research they found MWCNT blended with chitosan showed significant improvement in mechanical properties compared with those without chitosan ²⁸.

In vitro studies have shown that CNT as a scaffold has successfully grown several different types of cells. For instance, smooth muscle cell have been successfully grown on the SWCNT with collagen scaffold ²⁹. CNT scaffold support L929 mouse fibroblasts growth ³⁰. CNT are widely used as a mimic neural fibers scaffold to guide neurite growth ³⁰⁻³⁴. Nowadays, researchers try to use CNT as a scaffold for bone cell growth.

2.2.2 CNTs applications in bone tissue engineering

A major goal in bone bioengineering is to create artificial scaffold materials that have the capacity to sustain bone cell growth, proliferation and increment or replace bone tissue. When CNTs are used in biomaterials to contact with bone, the reactions of cells including bone tissues to CNTs are critical. These reactions are especially important when CNTs are used for bone tissue engineering. These cells are mainly osteoblasts, osteocytes, osteoclasts, and chondrocytes. Osteoblasts, the bone forming cells, proliferate on the bone surface, produce and secrete bone matrix proteins. As they progress through stages of cell differentiation under hormonal control, they mineralize the matrix by means of production of hydroxyapatite crystals. There have been several studies on the influence of CNTs on osteoblastic cells which are representative of these cells.

There are some published studies on the application of CNTs to biomaterials associated with bone. What they did basically was expose bone cell to different types of the CNTs, then checked cell proliferation and differentiation. For examples, in Zhang et al investigated effect of SWCNT, double walled carbon nanotubes (DWNTs) and MWCNT on the proliferation, differentiation, adipocytic transdifferentiation and mineralization of primary osteoblasts. They found the treatment of CNTs could reduce the viability of primary osteoblasts and inhibit the mineralization of osteoblasts in a dosedependent manner. Also CNT reduced the adipocytic transdifferentiations. However, the inhibition was not strong enough to reverse the cytotoxicity and suppression on viability and mineralization of primary osteoblasts ³⁵. Similar results were found by Zanello group. They concluded that CNTs sustain osteoblast growth and bone formation. CNTs showed promising biocompatibility with osteoblast cells and appeared to modulate the cell phenotype. Thus CNTs represent a potential technological advance in the field of bone bioengineering³⁶. In Narita et al's study they showed that MWCNTs inhibit osteoclastic bone resumption in vivo.MWCNTs inhibit osteoclastic differentiation and suppressed a transcription factor essential for osteoclastogenesis *in vitro*³⁷. Recently, the main aim of many studies is to examine the effects of CNTs on mesenchymal stem cell viability, proliferation, and phenotype. Mooney *et al*'s study revealed that functionalized CNTs were easier to disperse in human mesenchymal stem cell media. Study clarified the COOH- functionalized SWCNT were least toxic to the cells, and the CNT had no adverse effects on cell biocompatibility, proliferation, or differentiation ³⁸.

Since attention has been paid to the use of CNTs as biomaterials in contact with bone, it is critical to understand the reaction of bone cell to CNTs. Some of the studies used CNT films to test the effects of CNTs on bone cells. Kalbacova's groupindicated that differently prepared SWCNT films are not toxic for human osteoblasts and could be used for biomedical applications ³⁹. In Aoki et al's study they made CNT scaffold by vacuum filtration. And cell proliferation and morphology were investigated using a scanning electron microscopy. Osteoblast cells on CNTs showed excellent proliferation with extension of cell morphology in all directions ⁴⁰. After two years, Aoki's group investigated the dependence of biocompatibility of carbon materials on crystal structure with the aim of developing biomedical applications. They used SWCNT and MWCNT as scaffolds for cell culture and compared with graphite (GP). They discovered the osteoblast cell responses in terms of cell morphology, cell proliferation, and ALP activities were quite different between those carbon atom materials. With CNTs scaffolds, cell growth, proliferation, and functions were higher than GP. In particular, SWCNT cell proliferation and ALP activity were higher than on MWCNT. They thought those results could be due to the surface topology and chemical properties of the substrates ². However, the SWCNT films showed different results to MSC. SWCNT films and carbon fibers reduced the metabolic activity of both investigated cell types in different ways, as the reduction is more produced for carbon fibers. The high quality SWCNT films are apparently not toxic for the MSC under the conditions used. The observed reductions of metabolic activities can be occasioned by the surface morphology of the carbon materials ⁴¹. Park's results clearly showed that MSC exhibited preferential growth on CNT patterns, and the cell culture results suggested that the CNT patterns didn't have a

harmful effect on the MSC. Those results investigated CNT patterns have enormous potential as a new platform for basic research and applications using stem cells ⁴².

All those studies discussed above are using pure CNTs, however, reinforcement of naturally derived polymers with carbon nanotubes is another promising area that is just beginning to be explored. In 2006, Chlopek et al. fabricated MWCNT with polysulfone PSU (which is currently used in medicine) and investigated their effect on osteoblast. The cellular test performed in this study confirmed a good biocompatibility of nanotubes. Like high level of viability of the examined cells in contact with the nanotubes, the unchanged level of oteocalcin released from osteoblasts, the lack of proinflammatory IL-6; these effects point out a good cellular biocompatibility ⁴³. Type I collagen is one of the most studied molecules in biology because of its very important physical and biochemical functions in the extracellular matrix of many tissues, and has shown promise as a matrix for regenerative medicine ^{44,45}. MacDonald *et al.* reported a collagen-SWCNT composite for the cell culture substrate. The SWCNTs were strongly entrapped by collagen and the composite showed high mechanical strength. And the cell showed good cell viability. The affinity between collagen and CNTs was expected ²⁹. Recently, Terada et al .developed a transparent MWCNTs coating for cell culture dishes and estimated its properties for cell culture. In this research, they found rat osteoblast-like cells cultured on the MWCNT-coated dish which showed slightly lower viability and proliferation compared to the collagen-coated dish. The cell adhesion on the MWCNT coated dish was much higher than that on the collagen-coated dish. Therefore, CNT-coating for dishes will be a useful new material for cell culture ⁴⁶. However, there is only limit research about collagen-CNT composite materials, especially on stem cell research.

2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

It is commonly believed that stem cell is involved in continuous maintenance and repair of most tissue types. Taken into consideration that stem cells are capable of self renewal and they share the ability to differentiate in multiple lineages. This class of cells is of paramount importance for an organism, not only during development, but also during adulthood with respect to cellular homeostasis. Stem cells for non-hematopoietic tissues, which can be derived from bone marrow are commonly termed mesenchymal stem cell (MSC). MSCs are considered a readily accepted source of stem cells because such cells have already demonstrated efficacy in multiple types of cellular therapeutic strategies, especially in bone tissue regeneration strategies ⁴⁷.

MSC differentiation, morphology, markers expression and inflammatory response

The multiline differentiation potential of MSC populations derived from a variety of different species has been extensively studied *in vitro* since their first discovery in the 1960s ⁴⁸. MSC has the capacity to differentiate into all connective tissue cell types, including bone, cartilage, tendon, muscle, marrow, fat and dermis. *In vitro* studies showed successfully differentiation in a variety of cell lineages, including osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytees, fibroblasts, myoblasts and cardiomyocytes, hepatocytes, tenocytes, cenocytes, and even neurons.⁴⁹⁻⁵²

The differentiation can be simulated *in vitro* by adding the proper differentiating supplements to MSC, including dexamethasone (Dex), L-ascorbic acid (L-AA), and β -glycerophosphate (β -GP), each of them play a unique role in the differentiation process.⁵³⁻⁵⁶ For convenience, the differentiation process of the osteoblast committed

MSC is divided into several stages, like osteoprogenitors, preosteoblasts, osteoblastes, osteocytes, and bone lining cells (Figure 2.2).

Osteoprogenitor cells: it is a mainly functionalized cell type. Osteoprogenitors are able to clonally generate cells of osteoblast lineage but lack self-renewal capacity ⁵⁷. The cell morphology is spindles shaped and reside in close proximity to the preosteoblast layer with a distance from bone formation surface in the periosteal layer of bone ⁵⁸.

Preosteoblasts: this type of cell is considered as a precursor of the oteoblasts and indentified in part by their localization in the adjacent one or two cell layers' distance from the osteoblasts lining bone formation surfaces. Although preosteoblasts resemble osteoblasts histologically and stain for ALP acitivity, they have not yet acquired many of the other characteristics of fully mature cells, and unlike osteblasts, preosteoblasts are thought to possess a limited proliferation potential.

Osteoblasts: it is a post proliferative, strongly alkaline phosphatase positive cell lining bone matrix at sites of active matrix production. This type of cell has a large nucleus, enlarged Golgi apparatus, and extensive endoplasmic reticulum, which are typical features of cells highly active in protein production.⁵⁹

Osteocytes: It is a non-proliferative, terminally differentiated cell of the osteoblasts lineage. They are non-migratory cells, locked inside small lacunae in the mineralized bone matrix or the newly formed osteoid. Compared with mature osteoblasts, the osteocytes are smaller and have decreased ALP activity and cytoplasmic organelles. However, there is an emerging consensus that osteocytes play an important role in the maintenance of bone structure.⁶⁰⁻⁶²

Bone lining cells: These types of cells are flat, thin and elongated, covering most if not all the non-remodeling bone surfaces. Bone lining cells are considered postproliferative, inactive in matrix production and may take part in mechanotransduction and protection of the bone matrix from osteoclastic resorption.⁶³ Another feature of the bone lining cells is their potential to be reactivated to cuboidal, which can active osteoblasts in response to particular stimuli.⁶⁴

The cells change dramatically in morphology from their *in vivo* state. However, this compartmentalization is problematic for *in vitro* studies. Therefore, using molecular markers to evaluate the differentiation of MSC is most practical. The MSC differentiation is associated with temporal modification in the expression of a set of macromolecules. These molecules include membrane-associated enzymes (such as Alkaline phosphatase), bone matrix protein (such as type I collagen), and different cytokine receptors. Those macromolecules not only play important roles in regulating cell proliferation and function but also provide a panel of markers that reflect the transitional stages in osteoblast development (Figure 2.3).

Type I collagen: It is a primary product of osteoblasts during bone matrix formation, constituting approximately 90% of the total organic matrix in mature bone ⁶⁵. In osteoblast lineage cells, type I collagen is clearly expressed before the preosteoblast stage, and it has been documented that up-regulation of type I collagen occurs prior to up-regulation of any other matrix molecules and prior to ALP.⁶⁶

Alkaline phosphatase (ALP): Alkaline phosphatase is a hydrolase enzyme responsible for removing phosphate groups from many types of molecules, including nucleotides, proteins, and alkaloids. It is the most frequently used phenotypic marker to

evaluate bone activities ⁶⁷. The major role of ALP in bone is to facilitate mineralization. It is abundantly presents in membranes of osteoblasts and matrix vesicles when it covalent bounds to glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI).⁶⁸ In addition, ALP can also be detected in subpopulations of osteoprogenitors and preosteoblasts, well before mineralization and prior to the expression of the noncollagenous matrix molecules.⁶⁹ That is why ALP plays as a membrane-bound receptor involved in osteoprogenitor osteoblast adhesion, migration, and differentiation.⁷⁰

Osteocalcin: Osteocalcin is a carboxylated bone protein also known as bone Gla protein. It is the most abundant non-collagenous protein of bone and has a very narrow expression pattern. Osteocalcin is undetectable in preosteoblasts and expressed only by the mature osteoblasts and osteocytes. Therefore, the latest expressed osteoblast makers is osteocaclin.^{71,72}

Interleukin-6 (IL-6): A variety of publications suggest that treating inflamed cells with nano-particles decreases the cells' inflammatory responses.^{73,74} Cytokine expression has been measured for MSC isolated from rat bone; results indicated that MIF, IL-8, Serpin E1, GROα, IL-6, MCP-1, and SDF-1 were the most highly expressed ⁴. IL-6 is a multifunctional cytokine that can activate target genes involved in proliferation, differentiation, survival and apoptosis in a variety of cells.^{72,75} Indeed, researchers have shown that the production of interleukin-6 by bone marrow cells is regulated by sex steroids.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ Upon loss of gonadal function, osteoclast and osteoblast formation in the marrow increase. Both changes are apparently mediated by increase in the production of IL-6.⁷⁹ A pathogenic role for IL-6 and its receptor has been also demonstrated in other systemic diseases with increased bone remodeling, such as hyperparathyroidism and

hyperthyroidism.⁸⁰ IL-6 activates nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B) through the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathway, which regulates expression of the receptor activator of NF- κ B ligand (RANKL).⁸¹ through the IL-6gp130-STAT3 signaling pathway.⁸² RANKL then binds to receptor activator NF- κ B (RANK) on the surface of osteoclast progenitor cells, inducing the formation of a mature osteoclast.⁸³ Therefore, IL-6 cytokines stimulate osteoblast differentiation and bone formation.



Figure 2.2 1. preosteoblast, 2. preosteoblastic osteoblast, 3. osteoblast, 4. osteoblastic osteocyte (Type I preosteocyte), 5. osteoid-osteocyte (Type II preosteocyte),
6. Type III preosteocyte, 7. young osteocyte, 8. old osteocyte. Diagram drawn by Tim Fedak (<u>www.figs.ca</u>).⁶¹



Figure 2.3 Biomarker produced during different stages of MSC differentiations.

2.4 Toxicity Assessment of Carbon Nanotubes

CNTs are useful materials with numerous technological potentials. When CNT synthesis moved from laboratories to factories and the products became commercial commodities, CNTs began to come under toxicological scrutiny.

2.4.1 In vivo toxicology studies: rat, pig, fish

Most of the emerging literatures on the toxicity of CNTs have shown the model of respiratory exposure with consequent concerns about lung injury, inflammation and possible early signs of tumor formation in the lung (Table 2.2).⁸⁴

Test materials	Metal content	Animal species	References
Soot containing CNTs	Co/Ni No info on %	Guinea pig	Huczko et al.,2001
SWCNTs	Ni:10%	Mouse	Lam and McCluskey, 2000 (unpublished report)
SWCNTs	Fe:26.9% Mo:0.95% Ni:0.8%	Mouse	Lam et al., 2004
SWCNTs, purified	Fe:2.1%	Mouse	Lam et al., 2004
SWCNTs	Ni:26% Y:5.0% Fe:0.5%	Mouse	Lam et al., 2004
SWCNTs	Ni:5% Co:5%	Rat	Warheit et al., 2004
SWCNTs, purified	Fe:0.23%	Mouse	Shvedova et al., 2005
MWCNT	Co:0.95% Fe:~1%	Rat	Muller et al., 2005

 Table 2.2 Pulmonary toxicity studies of CNTs in animals
 84

The first study of a carbon nanotube product in Chunea pigs conducted by Huczko' et al of Warsaw University was published in 2001.⁸⁵ The results of this exploratory study showed that the intratracheal instillation of fibrous carbon nanostructures does not change pulmonary function and does not induce any measurable inflammation in bronchoalveolar space in CNTs-exposed guinea pigs. Thus, based on this research, they thought working with soot containing carbon nanotubes is unlikely to be associated with any health risk.

However, after three years, the first study of SWCNT toxicity, in which lung histopathology in exposed mice was examined,⁸⁶ was conducted to address NASA's concern that workers in occupational settings could be exposed to the airborne dust of this novel materials of unknown toxicity. In Lam, C. W's study they used three products which were made by different methods and contained different types and amounts of residual catalytic metals. Mice were intratracheally instilled with 0, 0.1, or 0.5 mg of carbon nanotubes, a carbon black negative control, or a quartz positive control, and then they were euthanized 7 days or 90 days after the single treatment for a histopathological study of the lungs. All nanotube products induced dose-dependent epithelioid granulomas and, in some cases, interstitial inflammation in the animals of the 7 days groups. These lesions persisted and were more pronounced in the 90 days groups; the lungs of some animals also revealed peribronchial inflammation and necrosis that had extended into the alveolar septa. The lungs of mice treated with carbon black were normal, whereas those treated with high-dose quartz revealed mild to moderate inflammation. These results show that, for the test conditions described here and on an equal-weight basis, if carbon nanotubes reach the lungs, they were much more toxic than carbon black and can be more toxic than quartz, which is considered a serious occupational health hazard in chronic inhalation exposures.

Not only in the mouse, Warheit and his research group of Du Pont Company also conducted toxicity study in rats of a SWCNTs product made by their company.⁸⁷ In this study the lungs of rats were instilled either with 1 or 5 mg/kg of the SWCNT, quartz particles (positive control), carbonyl iron particles (negative control), phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) + 1% Tween 80, and graphite particles (lung tissue studies only). Following

exposures, results from the lung histopathology component of the study indicated that quartz particles (5mg/kg) produced dose-dependent pulmonary exposures to inflammatory responses, concomitant with foamy alveolar macrophage accumulation and lung tissue thickening at the sites of normal particle deposition. Pulmonary exposures to carbonyl iron or graphite particles produced no significant adverse effects. Pulmonary exposures to SWCNTs in rats produced a non-dose-dependent series of multifocal granulomas, which were evidence of a foreign tissue body reaction and were nonuniform in distribution and not progressive beyond 1 month post exposure. The physiological relevance of SWCNT-induced multifocal granulomas findings should ultimately be determined by conducting an inhalation toxicity study. MWCNTs have been shown to produce lung lesions similar to those observed in studies with SWCNTs. The Muller's research group tested two forms of MWCNTs, and they found that 60 days after rats were each given a single ITI does of 0.5, 2, or 5mg MWCNT, their lungs showed inflammation, granulomas, and fibrosis.⁸⁸

The concerns about the toxicity of carbon nanotubes on mammalian studies have increased, and there is even one article showing the toxicity of SWCNT on aquatic life using rainbow trout.⁸⁹ They used a semi-static test system to expose rainbow trout to a freshwater control, solvent control, 0.1, 0.25 or 0.5 mg/L SWCNT for up to 10 days. From this study they found that SWCNTs are respiratory toxicant in trout.the fish were able to manage oxidative stress and osmoregulatory disturbances, but other cellular pathologies raised concerns about cell cycle defects, neurotoxicity, and some unidentified blood borne factors that possibly mediate systemic psthologies.
2.3.2 In vitro toxicology studies

Human exposure to nanoparticles in the air is a complex process. Particle sizes can range from individual particles of around 50 nm or much less in vehicle exhausts.⁹⁰ The growth of larger aggregates of particles is associated with coagulation or condensation processes in the urban air ⁹¹. Another approach used in toxicological investigations is to study the responses of individual cell types with a view of obtaining evidence on the mechanisms of toxicity. Toxicological studies are assessing respiratory exposure of nanoparticles *in vitro*. These raise some concerns for health effects, but without measurements of manufactured nanoparticles in the atmosphere, it is difficult to precisely quantify the current risk to the general public. That is why many researchers tried the different dose and exposure time of CNT on different cells. Several *in vitro* assessments of the toxicity effects of manufactured nanomaterials have been carried out (Table 2.3).

Overall, these studies suggest that oxidative stress is one possible mechanism of toxicity. This may be also linked to inflammation responses. Shvedova *et al.*⁹⁴ showed that SWCNT cause oxidative stress and cellular toxicity to HEK. There are also results that come from skin cell culture,⁹⁴ like Monteiro-Riviere *et al.* found that MWCNT caused a time dependent release of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, Interleukin 8 (IL-8),⁹³ from human epidermal keratinocytes. Other toxicity effects at the cellular level include changes in cell growth and turnover. In Cui *et al.*⁹² study they found the inhibition of HEK 293 cell proliferation, induced cell apoptosis, and decreased cellular adhesive ability.

Nanomaterial	Dose/Exposure time	Cells	Study
SWCNT	Serial dilutions from 0.78 to 200ug/ml	Human HEK 293 (human embryo kidney) cells	Cui et al. 2005 92
MWCNT	Serial dilutions of 0.2-0.1 mg/ml for 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, 24 and 48 hour	Human epidermal keratinocytes (HEK)	Monteiro-Riviere <i>et al.</i> 2005 93
SWCNT	0.06-0.24mg/ml for up to 18 hour	HEK cells in culture	Shvedova <i>et al.</i> 2003 94
SWCNT	0, 400,800 μg/ml For 24 hour	A549 cell	Davoren <i>et al.</i> 2007 95
SWCNT	30 and 60 µg/ml for 1, 24 and 48 hour	Human macrophage cells	Fiorito <i>et al</i> . 2006 ⁹⁶
SWCNT	1mg/ml for 4 days	Human epithelial-like Hela cells	Yehia <i>et al</i> . 2007 97

Table 2.3 Examples of the toxic effects of CNTs from in vitro studies

The lungs as a whole have been subjected to testing for the potential hazards of inhalation exposure to carbon nanotubes. The cytotoxicity effect of CNTs has been evaluated *in vitro* on culturing lung cells. Kisin *et al.* ⁹⁸ have reported loss of viability in lung fibroblast cell line in a concentration and time dependent manner after the exposure of cells to SWCNT. The serum supplementation to the cell culture medium probably made the CNT non toxic, as demonstrated by Yehia *et al.*⁹⁷ Human epithelial-like lung cell line (A549) has been widely used in the *in vitro* cytotoxicity assessment of SWCNT. Maria Davoren's⁹⁵ study revealed that the SWCNT have low acute toxicity after exposure

of A549 cells to a wide dose range of SWCNT (1.56-800 ug/ml) for 24 hours. And in this study, they found greater SWCNT toxicity was observed in absence of serum. Casey et al.99 demonstrated that the cause of cytotoxicity to the A549 cells to be due to media constituent depletion and referred to it as a case of false positive result. On the other hand, some studies showed the effect of the CNTs to A549 cells. For example, the research group in Korea found little cytotoxic effects on the proliferation and viability of A549 and other three cell lines expose to the SWCNT concentrations (<250-500ug/ml) within 48 hours. However, exposing A549 cells to high SWCNT concentrations (250-500ug/ml) for 72 hours resulted in an inflammatory response with oxidative stress and membrane damage ¹⁰⁰. Herzog et al. showed that exposing A549 cells to SWCNT samples can lead to the suppression of a variety of inflammatory mediators including IL-8, IL-6 and MCP-1 in vitro¹⁰¹. At the same time, researchers demonstrated that MWCNTs are able to induce inflammatory responses in vitro. Oxidative stress and NF-KB activation seem to play an important role in MWCNTs-induced cytokine production, which suggests that MWCNTs exert proinflammatory effects by a mechanism that is mediated by ROS and NF- κ B¹⁰².

Despite these details on effects in cell cultures and respiratory effects *in vitro*, our knowledge on CNTs toxicity is incomplete. Some results indicated CNTs to be highly toxic ^{77,103-105}, and others showed low toxicity or no signs of toxicity at all ¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸. In addition, many of these experiments used a "proof of principle" approach using relatively high doses to ensure a clear demonstration of toxicity effect. However, these types of experiments do not generally give data on "no effect" levels that are of interest in risk assessment. More detailed studies are needed.

References

- 1. Iijima, S. Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon. *Nature* **354**, 56-58 (1991).
- 2. Aoki, N., Akasaka, T., Watari, F. & Yokoyama, A. Carbon nanotubes as scaffolds for cell culture and effect on cellular functions. *Dent. Mater. J.* **26**, 178-185 (2007).
- 3. Iijima, S. & Ichihashi, T. Single-shell carbon nanotubes of 1-nm diameter. *Nature* **363**, 603-605 (1993).
- 4. Hwang, J.H., *et al.* Comparison of cytokine expression in mesenchymal stem cells from human placenta, cord blood, and bone marrow. *J. Korean Med. Sci.* **24**, 547-554 (2009).
- 5. Jorio, A., *et al.* Structural (n, m) determination of isolated single-wall carbon nanotubes by resonant Raman scattering. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **86**, 1118-1121 (2001).
- Ajayan, P.M. & Ebbesen, T.W. Nanometre-size tubes of carbon. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* 60, 1025-1062 (1997).
- 7. Cheng, H., *et al.* Osteogenic activity of the fourteen types of human bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs). *J. Bone Joint Surg. Am.* **85-A**, 1544-1552 (2003).
- 8. Yu, M.F., *et al.* Strength and breaking mechanism of multiwalled carbon nanotubes under tensile load. *Science* **287**, 637-640 (2000).
- 9. Worsley, K.A., Kalinina, I., Bekyarova, E. & Haddon, R.C. Functionalization and dissolution of nitric acid treated single-walled carbon nanotubes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **131**, 18153-18158 (2009).
- Huang, X.J., Im, H.S., Lee, D.H., Kim, H.S. & Choi, Y.K. Ferrocene functionalized single-walled carbon nanotube bundles. Hybrid interdigitated construction film for L-glutamate detection. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 111, 1200-1206 (2007).
- Wong, S.S., Joselevich, E., Woolley, A.T., Cheung, C.L. & Lieber, C.M. Covalently functionalized nanotubes as nanometre- sized probes in chemistry and biology. *Nature* **394**, 52-55 (1998).
- 12. Ando, Y., Zhao, X., Sugai, T. & Kumar, M. Growing carbon nanotubes. *Materials Today* **7**, 22-29 (2004).
- 13. Smiljanic, O., Larouche, F., Sun, X., Dodelet, J.P. & Stansfield, B.L. Synthesis of single-walled carbon nanotubes (C-SWNTs) with a plasma torch: a parametric study. *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* **4**, 1005-1013 (2004).

- 14. Nikolaev, P., *et al.* Gas-phase catalytic growth of single-walled carbon nanotubes from carbon monoxide. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **313**, 91-97 (1999).
- 15. Saito, N., *et al.* Carbon nanotubes for biomaterials in contact with bone. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **15**, 523-527 (2008).
- Cai, H., Cao, X., Jiang, Y., He, P. & Fang, Y. Carbon nanotube-enhanced electrochemical DNA biosensor for DNA hybridization detection. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 375, 287-293 (2003).
- 17. Shi, J., Chen, Y., Wang, Q. & Liu, Y. Construction and efficient radical cation stabilization of cyclodextrin/aniline polypseudorotaxane and its conjugate with carbon nanotubes. *Ad. Mater.* **22**, 2575-2578.
- Bianchi, L., Kwok, S.M., Driscoll, M. & Sesti, F. A potassium channel-MiRP complex controls neurosensory function in Caenorhabditis elegans. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 12415-12424 (2003).
- 19. Mitchell, D.T., *et al.* Smart nanotubes for bioseparations and biocatalysis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **124**, 11864-11865 (2002).
- 20. Harrison, B.S. & Atala, A. Carbon nanotube applications for tissue engineering. *Biomaterials* **28**, 344-353 (2007).

21. Chen, R.J., *et al.* Noncovalent functionalization of carbon nanotubes for highly specific electronic biosensors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* **100**, 4984-4989 (2003).

- 22. Williams, K.A., Veenhuizen, P.T.M., de la Torre, B.G., Eritja, R. & Dekker, C. Nanotechnology: Carbon nanotubes with DNA recognition. *Nature* **420**, 761-761 (2002).
- 23. Bianco, A., Kostarelos, K., Partidos, C.D. & Prato, M. Biomedical applications of functionalised carbon nanotubes. *Chem. Commun. (Camb)*, 571-577 (2005).
- 24. Wu, W., *et al.* Targeted delivery of amphotericin B to cells by using functionalized carbon nanotubes. *Angew. Chem .Int. Ed .Engl.***44**, 6358-6362 (2005).
- 25. Klumpp, C., Kostarelos, K., Prato, M. & Bianco, A. Functionalized carbon nanotubes as emerging nanovectors for the delivery of therapeutics. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Biomembranes* **1758**, 404-412 (2006).
- 26. Pantarotto, D., *et al.* Immunization with peptide-functionalized carbon nanotubes enhances virus-specific neutralizing antibody responses. *Chem. Biol.* **10**, 961-966 (2003).

- 27. Singh, R., *et al.* Binding and condensation of plasmid DNA onto functionalized carbon nanotubes: toward the construction of nanotube-based gene delivery vectors. *J Am Chem Soc* **127**, 4388-4396 (2005).
- 28. Wang, S.F., Shen, L., Zhang, W.D. & Tong, Y.J. Preparation and mechanical properties of chitosan/carbon nanotubes composites. *Biomacromolecules* **6**, 3067-3072 (2005).
- 29. MacDonald, R.A., Laurenzi, B.F., Viswanathan, G., Ajayan, P.M. & Stegemann, J.P. Collagen-carbon nanotube composite materials as scaffolds in tissue engineering. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* A **74**, 489-496 (2005).
- 30. Correa-Duarte, M.A., *et al.* Fabrication and biocompatibility of carbon nanotubebased 3D networks as scaffolds for cell seeding and growth. *Nano Lett.* **4**, 2233-2236 (2004).
- 31. Gabay, T., Jakobs, E., Ben-Jacob, E. & Hanein, Y. Engineered self-organization of neural networks using carbon nanotube clusters. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Appli.* **350**, 611-621 (2005).
- 32. Hu, H., *et al.* Polyethyleneimine functionalized single-walled carbon nanotubes as a substrate for neuronal growth. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **109**, 4285-4289 (2005).
- 33. Mattson, M.P., Haddon, R.C. & Rao, A.M. Molecular functionalization of carbon nanotubes and use as substrates for neuronal growth. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* **14**, 175-182 (2000).
- 34. Zhang, X., *et al.* Guided neurite growth on patterned carbon nanotubes. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* **106**, 843-850 (2005).
- 35. Zhang, D., Yi, C., Qi, S., Yao, X. & Yang, M. Effects of carbon nanotubes on the proliferation and differentiation of primary osteoblasts. *Methods. Mol. Biol.* **625**, 41-53.
- 36. Zanello, L.P., Zhao, B., Hu, H. & Haddon, R.C. Bone cell proliferation on carbon nanotubes. *Nano Lett.* **6**, 562-567 (2006).
- 37. Narita, N., *et al.* Multiwalled carbon nanotubes specifically inhibit osteoclast differentiation and function. *Nano Lett.* **9**, 1406-1413 (2009).
- 38. Mooney, E., Dockery, P., Greiser, U., Murphy, M. & Barron, V. Carbon nanotubes and mesenchymal stem cells: biocompatibility, proliferation and differentiation. *Nano Lett.* **8**, 2137-2143 (2008).

- 39. Kalbacova, M., Kalbac, M., Dunsch, L. & Hempel, U. Influence of single-walled carbon nanotube films on metabolic activity and adherence of human osteoblasts. *Carbon* **45**, 2266-2272 (2007).
- 40. Aoki, N., *et al.* Cell culture on a carbon nanotube scaffold. *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.* **1**, 402-405 (2005).
- 41. Kalbacova, M., Kalbac, M., Dunsch, L., Kataura, H. & Hempel, U. The study of the interaction of human mesenchymal stem cells and monocytes/macrophages with single-walled carbon nanotube films. *Phys. Status Solidi B-Basic Solid State Phys.* **243**, 3514-3518 (2006).
- 42. Park, S.Y., *et al.* Carbon nanotube monolayer patterns for directed growth of mesenchymal stem cells. *Adv. Mater.* **19**, 2530-+ (2007).
- 43. Chlopek, J., *et al.* In vitro studies of carbon nanotubes biocompatibility. *Carbon* **44**, 1106-1111 (2006).
- 44. Girton, T.S., Oegema, T.R. & Tranquillo, R.T. Exploiting glycation to stiffen and strengthen tissue equivalents for tissue engineering. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **46**, 87-92 (1999).
- 45. He, H. & Matsuda, T. Arterial replacement with compliant hierarchic hybrid vascular graft: biomechanical adaptation and failure. *Tissue Eng.* **8**, 213-224 (2002).
- 46. Terada, M., *et al.* Development of a multiwalled carbon nanotube coated collagen dish. *Dent. Mater. J.***28**, 82-88 (2009).
- 47. Petite, H., *et al.* Tissue-engineered bone regeneration. *Nat* .*Biotechnol.* **18**, 959-963 (2000).
- 48. Friedenstein, A.J., Piatetzky, S., II & Petrakova, K.V. Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol.* **16**, 381-390 (1966).
- 49. Egusa, H., Schweizer, F.E., Wang, C.C., Matsuka, Y. & Nishimura, I. Neuronal differentiation of bone marrow-derived stromal stem cells involves suppression of discordant phenotypes through gene silencing. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 23691-23697 (2005).
- 50. Jiang, Y., *et al.* Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow. *Nature* **418**, 41-49 (2002).
- 51. Makino, S., *et al.* Cardiomyocytes can be generated from marrow stromal cells in vitro. *J. Clin. Invest.* **103**, 697-705 (1999).

- 53. Shiga, M., Kapila, Y.L., Zhang, Q., Hayami, T. & Kapila, S. Ascorbic acid induces collagenase-1 in human periodontal ligament cells but not in MC3T3-E1 osteoblast-like cells: potential association between collagenase expression and changes in alkaline phosphatase phenotype. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* **18**, 67-77 (2003).
- 54. Jaiswal, N., Haynesworth, S.E., Caplan, A.I. & Bruder, S.P. Osteogenic differentiation of purified, culture-expanded human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **64**, 295-312 (1997).
- 55. Hayami, T., Zhang, Q., Kapila, Y. & Kapila, S. Dexamethasone's enhancement of osteoblastic markers in human periodontal ligament cells is associated with inhibition of collagenase expression. *Bone* **40**, 93-104 (2007).
- 56. Chung, C.H., Golub, E.E., Forbes, E., Tokuoka, T. & Shapiro, I.M. Mechanism of action of beta-glycerophosphate on bone cell mineralization. *Calcif .Tissue Int .***51**, 305-311 (1992).
- 57. Long, M.W. Osteogenesis and bone-marrow-derived cells. *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases* **27**, 677-690 (2001).
- 58. Modder, U.I. & Khosla, S. Skeletal stem/osteoprogenitor cells: current concepts, alternate hypotheses, and relationship to the bone remodeling compartment. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **103**, 393-400 (2008).
- 59. Aubin, J.E. Advances in the osteoblast lineage. *Biochem. Cell. Biol.* **76**, 899-910 (1998).
- 60. Parfitt, A.M., Mundy, G.R., Roodman, G.D., Hughes, D.E. & Boyce, B.F. A new model for the regulation of bone resorption, with particular reference to the effects of bisphosphonates. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* **11**, 150-159 (1996).
- 61. Franz-Odendaal, T.A., Hall, B.K. & Witten, P.E. Buried alive: how osteoblasts become osteocytes. *Dev. Dyn.* **235**, 176-190 (2006).
- 62. Noble, B.S. The osteocyte lineage. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 473, 106-111 (2008).
- 63. Turner, C.H. & Pavalko, F.M. Mechanotransduction and functional response of the skeleton to physical stress: the mechanisms and mechanics of bone adaptation. *J. Orthop. Sci.* **3**, 346-355 (1998).

- 64. Dobnig, H. & Turner, R.T. Evidence That intermittent treatment with parathyroidhormone increases bone-formation in adult-rats by activation of bone lining cells. *Endocrinology* **136**, 3632-3638 (1995).
- 65. Niyibizi, C. & Eyre, D.R. Structural characteristics of cross-linking sites in type V collagen of bone. Chain specificities and heterotypic links to type I collagen. *Eur J*. *Biochem.* **224**, 943-950 (1994).
- 66. Liu, F., Malaval, L., Gupta, A.K. & Aubin, J.E. Simultaneous detection of multiple bone-related mRNAs and protein expression during osteoblast differentiation: polymerase chain reaction and immunocytochemical studies at the single cell level. *Dev. Biol.* **166**, 220-234 (1994).
- 67. Rodan, G.A. & Noda, M. Gene expression in osteoblastic cells. *Crit. Rev. Eukaryot. Gene Expr.* **1**, 85-98 (1991).
- 68. Pizauro, J.M., Ciancaglini, P. & Leone, F.A. Osseous plate alkaline phosphatase is anchored by GPI. *Braz*. *J*.*Med. Biol. Res.* **27**, 453-456 (1994).
- 69. Aubin, J.E. Bone stem cells. J. Cell. Biochem. Suppl. 30-31, 73-82 (1998).
- 70. Hui, M., Hu, M. & Tenenbaum, H.C. Changes in cell adhesion and cell proliferation are associated with expression of tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase. *Cell Tissue Res.* **274**, 429-437 (1993).
- 71. Hauschka, P.V., Lian, J.B., Cole, D.E. & Gundberg, C.M. Osteocalcin and matrix Gla protein: vitamin K-dependent proteins in bone. *Physiol Rev* **69**, 990-1047 (1989).
- 72. Weinreb, M., Shinar, D. & Rodan, G.A. Different pattern of alkaline phosphatase, osteopontin, and osteocalcin expression in developing rat bone visualized by in situ hybridization. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* **5**, 831-842 (1990).
- 73. Wong, K.K., *et al.* Further evidence of the anti-inflammatory effects of silver nanoparticles. *ChemMedChem.* **4**, 1129-1135 (2009).
- 74. Nadworny, P.L., Wang, J., Tredget, E.E. & Burrell, R.E. Anti-inflammatory activity of nanocrystalline silver in a porcine contact dermatitis model. *Nanomedicine* **4**, 241-251 (2008).
- 75. Kishimoto, T., Akira, S., Narazaki, M. & Taga, T. Interleukin-6 family of cytokines and gp130. *Blood* **86**, 1243-1254 (1995).
- 76. Girasole, G., *et al.* 17 beta-estradiol inhibits interleukin-6 production by bone marrow-derived stromal cells and osteoblasts in vitro: a potential mechanism for the antiosteoporotic effect of estrogens. *J. Clin. Invest.* **89**, 883-891 (1992).

- 78. Lin, S.C., *et al.* Regulation of the gp80 and gp130 subunits of the IL-6 receptor by sex steroids in the murine bone marrow. *J. Clin. Invest.* **100**, 1980-1990 (1997).
- 79. Jilka, R.L., *et al.* Increased osteoclast development after estrogen loss: mediation by interleukin-6. *Science* **257**, 88-91 (1992).
- 80. Taguchi, Y., *et al.* Interleukin-6-type cytokines stimulate mesenchymal progenitor differentiation toward the osteoblastic lineage. *Proc. Assoc. Am. Physicians.* **110**, 559-574 (1998).
- 81. Yamashita, T., *et al.* NF-kappaB p50 and p52 regulate receptor activator of NFkappaB ligand (RANKL) and tumor necrosis factor-induced osteoclast precursor differentiation by activating c-Fos and NFATc1. *J. Biol. Chem.* **282**, 18245-18253 (2007).
- 82. O'Brien, C.A., Gubrij, I., Lin, S.C., Saylors, R.L. & Manolagas, S.C. STAT3 activation in stromal/osteoblastic cells is required for induction of the receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand and stimulation of osteoclastogenesis by gp130utilizing cytokines or interleukin-1 but not 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 or parathyroid hormone. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 19301-19308 (1999).
- Yasuda, H., *et al.* Osteoclast differentiation factor is a ligand for osteoprotegerin/osteoclastogenesis-inhibitory factor and is identical to TRANCE/RANKL. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* **95**, 3597-3602 (1998).
- 84. Lam, C.W., James, J.T., McCluskey, R., Arepalli, S. & Hunter, R.L. A review of carbon nanotube toxicity and assessment of potential occupational and environmental health risks. *Crit. Rev. Toxicol.* **36**, 189-217 (2006).
- Huczko, A., Lange, H., Calko, E., Grubek-Jaworska, H. & Droszcz, P. Physiological testing of carbon nanotubes: Are they asbestos-like? *Fullerene Sci. Technol.* 9, 251-254 (2001).
- 86. Lam, C.W., James, J.T., McCluskey, R. & Hunter, R.L. Pulmonary toxicity of single-wall carbon nanotubes in mice 7 and 90 days after intratracheal instillation. *Toxicol. Sci.* **77**, 126-134 (2004).
- 87. Warheit, D.B., *et al.* Comparative pulmonary toxicity assessment of single-wall carbon nanotubes in rats. *Toxicol. Sci.* **77**, 117-125 (2004).

- 88. Muller, J., *et al.* Respiratory toxicity of multi-wall carbon nanotubes. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **207**, 221-231 (2005).
- 89. Smith, C.J., Shaw, B.J. & Handy, R.D. Toxicity of single walled carbon nanotubes to rainbow trout, (Oncorhynchus mykiss): respiratory toxicity, organ pathologies, and other physiological effects. *Aquat. Toxicol.* **82**, 94-109 (2007).
- 90. Dahl, A., *et al.* Traffic-generated emissions of ultrafine particles from pavementtire interface. *Atmospheric Environ.***40**, 1314-1323 (2006).
- 91. Minoura, H. & Takekawa, H. Observation of number concentrations of atmospheric aerosols and analysis of nanoparticle behavior at an urban background area in Japan. *Atmospheric Environ.***39**, 5806-5816 (2005).
- 92. Cui, D., Tian, F., Ozkan, C.S., Wang, M. & Gao, H. Effect of single wall carbon nanotubes on human HEK293 cells. *Toxicol. Lett* .155, 73-85 (2005).
- 93. Monteiro-Riviere, N.A., Nemanich, R.J., Inman, A.O., Wang, Y.Y. & Riviere, J.E. Multi-walled carbon nanotube interactions with human epidermal keratinocytes. *Toxicol. Lett.* **155**, 377-384 (2005).
- 94. Shvedova, A.A., *et al.* Exposure to carbon nanotube material: Assessment of nanotube cytotoxicity using human keratinocyte cells. *J. Toxicol. Env. Health Pt. A* **66**, 1909-1926 (2003).
- 95. Davoren, M., *et al.* In vitro toxicity evaluation of single walled carbon nanotubes on human A549 lung cells. *Toxicol. In Vitro* **21**, 438-448 (2007).
- 96. Fiorito, S., Serafino, A., Andreola, F. & Bernier, P. Effects of fullerenes and single-wall carbon nanotubes on murine and human macrophages. *Carbon* 44, 1100-1105 (2006).
- 97. Yehia, H.N., *et al.* Single-walled carbon nanotube interactions with HeLa cells. *J. Nanobiotechnology* **5**, 8 (2007).
- 98. Kisin, E.R., *et al.* Single-walled carbon nanotubes: geno- and cytotoxic effects in lung fibroblast V79 cells. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A* **70**, 2071-2079 (2007).
- 99. Casey, A., *et al.* Single walled carbon nanotubes induce indirect cytotoxicity by medium depletion in A549 lung cells. *Toxicol. Lett.* **179**, 78-84 (2008).
- 100. Choi, S.J., Oh, J.M. & Choy, J.H. Toxicological effects of inorganic nanoparticles on human lung cancer A549 cells. *J. Inorg. Biochem.* **103**, 463-471 (2009).
- 101. Herzog, E., *et al.* SWCNT suppress inflammatory mediator responses in human lung epithelium in vitro. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **234**, 378-390 (2009).

- 102. Ye, S.F., Wu, Y.H., Hou, Z.Q. & Zhang, Q.Q. ROS and NF-kappaB are involved in upregulation of IL-8 in A549 cells exposed to multi-walled carbon nanotubes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **379**, 643-648 (2009).
- 103. Jia, G., *et al.* Cytotoxicity of carbon nanomaterials: Single-wall nanotube, multiwall nanotube, and fullerene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **39**, 1378-1383 (2005).
- Manna, S.K., *et al.* Single-walled carbon nanotube induces oxidative stress and activates nuclear transcription factor-kappaB in human keratinocytes. *Nano Lett.* 5, 1676-1684 (2005).
- Soto, K.F., Carrasco, A., Powell, T.G., Garza, K.M. & Murr, L.E. Comparative in vitro cytotoxicity assessment of some manufactured nanoparticulate materials characterized by transmission electron microscopy. *J. Nanopart. Res.* 7, 145-169 (2005).
- 106. Pantarotto, D., Briand, J.P., Prato, M. & Bianco, A. Translocation of bioactive peptides across cell membranes by carbon nanotubes. *Chem Commun. (Camb)*, 16-17 (2004).
- 107. Kam, N.W.S., Jessop, T.C., Wender, P.A. & Dai, H.J. Nanotube molecular transporters: Internalization of carbon nanotube-protein conjugates into mammalian cells. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **126**, 6850-6851 (2004).
- 108. Murakami, T., *et al.* Drug-loaded carbon nanohorns: adsorption and release of dexamethasone in vitro. *Mol. Pharm.* **1**, 399-405 (2004).

CHAPTER 3

CARBON NANOTUBE-COLLAGEN SCAFFOLDS FOR MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS' DIFFERENTIATION: CHANGES IN ALKALINE PHOSPHATASE EXPRESSION AND MINERALIZATION

3.1 Abstract

Studies of the application of carbon nanotubes (CNTs) have been carried out for the substrates of cell culture, drug delivery systems, and medical implant materials. However, little is known about the impact of CNTs on cellular processes such as adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation. We hypothesized that augmenting the properties of naturally derived polymers (collagen, in this study) through the incorporation of CNTs might enhance osteogenic differentiation of MSCs in vitro. In this study, we incorporated different concentrations and types of multi-walled CNTs (MWCNTs) into reconstituted type I collagen, and evaluated proliferation, differentiation, mineralization, and inflammatory response of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) on these MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. MWCNTs were distributed in collagen matrix, and strongly entrapped in collagen at the concentrations below 100 ppm. Alkaline phosphatase (AP) activity and mineralized nodules of extracellular matrix (ECM) were monitored as osteogenic differentiation markers. Collagen itself enhanced MSCs differentiation and mineralization due to its nanoscale feature. MWCNTs added to collagen scaffolds induced an additional increase in MSCs differentiation and mineralization. MWCNTcollagen scaffolds induced significantly higher level of AP activity than plastic surface and increased ECM mineralization 12 days after replacement with differentiating media.

Additional increase in MSC differentiation and mineralization may be due to the increased stiffness and tensile strength of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds.

3.2 Introduction

There have been significant advances in cell-based therapy and tissue engineering for the repair and replacement of damaged tissues and organs. Nanotechnology has emerged showing great potential for the creation of the next generation of materials. Recent researches have more focused on the role of nano-structure and nano-scale materials for tissue engineering applications.¹ Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) were first introduced by Oberlin et al. in 1976^2 and their development and applications have been dramatically increasing in biosensors, tissue engineering, and biomedical devices, because of their unique electronic, chemical and mechanical properties³⁻⁶. Studies of the application of carbon nanomaterials have been carried for the substrate of cell culture⁷⁻⁹, drug delivery systems,^{10,11} and medical implant materials. The applications of CNTs have tremendous potentials for them as substrates of cell cultures, drug delivery systems, and medical implantable materials.¹⁰⁻¹³ Nanomaterial-based scaffolds can provide many critical features of the microenvironments for cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation. However, little is known about the impact of CNTs on cellular processes such as adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation. Nanomaterial-based scaffolds can provide many critical features of the microenvironments for cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation.

A variety of new approaches and new materials have been developed for creating improved scaffolds with engineered tissues.^{14,15} The advent of the field of nanotechnology has stimulated an interest in creating nanocomposite materials for a

variety of purposes, including biomedical applications. Initial studies using composites of synthetic polymers and CNTs have demonstrated promise for these materials in neural and orthopedic tissue engineering applications. The reinforcement of naturally derived polymers (e.g. ECM) with carbon nanotubes has been attempted to compensate for ECM scaffold limitations such as weak mechanical properties, lack of electrical conductivity, the absence of adhesive and microenvironment-defining moieties.¹⁶ CNTs have diameters ranging from 0.7 to 2.0 nm (typically around 1.0 nm), with the lengths that are often hundreds or thousands of times greater than their diameter.¹⁷ This high aspect ratio of CNTs plays an important role as in fiber-reinforced composite materials additives.¹⁸ CNTs has similar viscoelastic property to that observed in soft-tissue membrane, so they have been used to icrease the Yong's modulus and tensile strength of the hybrid biomaterials.^{16,19,20}

In this study, we used MWCNT-reinforced collagen scaffolds to investigate the osteogenic differentiation of MSCs. The overall goal is to develop scaffolds that provide enhanced mechanical and functional properties in a variety of tissue engineering applications, by augmenting the properties of naturally derived polymers through incorporation of carbon nanotubes. Our study was spurred by the following questions: 1) How CNT-based materials affect cellular processes (e.g. renewal, metabolic activity, and differentiation) of MSCs? 2) Does this addition of CNTs into naturally derived polymers result in creating stiffer environment in which osteoprogenitor cells may prefer to be differentiated into osteocytes? To address the above issues, we incorporated different concentrations and types of multi-walled CNTs (MWCNTs) into reconstituted type I collagen, and evaluated proliferation, differentiation, mineralization, and inflammatory

response of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) on these MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. Alkaline phosphatase (AP) activity and mineralized nodules of extracellular matrix (ECM) were monitored as osteogenic differentiation markers. Collagen itself enhanced MSCs differentiation and mineralization due to its nanoscale feature. MWCNTs added to collagen scaffolds induced an additional increase in MSCs differentiation and mineralization. MWCNT-collagen scaffolds induced significantly higher level of AP activity than plastic surface and increased ECM mineralization 12 days after replacement with differentiating media. Additional increase in MSC differentiation and mineralization may be due to the increased stiffness and tensile strength of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 *Materials and Reagents*

HiPco derived MWCNT, MWCNT-OH and MWCNT-COOH were purchased from Cheap Tubes Inc (Brattleboro, VT). Rat tail collagen type I was purchased from BD bioscience (Rockville, MD). Alamar Blue[™], Quant-iT[™] PicoGreen® dsDNA detection kit, and rat interleukin 6 (IL-6) CytoSet[™] was purchased from Invitrogen Corporation (Carlsbad, CA).

3.3.2 Isolation and Culture of rat MSCs

The rat femurs were removed under aseptic conditions and the connective tissue was excised. The epiphyses were removed from the femurs and the cavity was washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) solution with 1% penicillin/streptomycin to isolate bone marrow. The solution was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 10 minutes, and the PBS was extracted. The MSCs were resuspended in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's

Medium (DMEM) with other supplements: 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 5 ml of penicillin/streptomycin, and 1 ml of amfotericin. Most of MSCs were at or between osteoprogenitor and pre-osteoblast stage. The MSCs were seeded at a density of 4×10^4 cells/well on MWCNT-collagen scaffolds and incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. The MSCs can be differentiated to the osteoblastic phenotype by the addition of 10 mM of β -glycerophosphate, 50 µg/ml of ascorbic acid, and 10 nM of dexamethasone.

3.3.3 Dispersion of MWCNTs

Three different types (MWCNT, MWCNT-OH, MWCNT-COOH) of MWCNTs (20 - 30 nm in diameter) with two different length (long; 10-20 m and short; 0.5 - 2.0 m) were added to distilled water and sonicated for 10 minutes with a 10 second cooling time per 1 minute sonication cycle using a Sonicator 3000 manufactured by Misonix (Farmingdale, NY). After sonication, a nontoxic surfactant polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) (Fisher Scientific, PA) was added to the SWCNT solution to inhibit the aggregation of MWCNTs in the solution.

3.3.4 Preparation of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds

Different concentrations (10, 50, 100, and 855 ppm) of MWCNTs was formulated into a fixed concentration of collagen type I (1 mg/ml) with 10% NaHCO₃. 1000 μ l of MWCNT-collagen mixture were transferred to each well of 24 well plates, and cell incubated for 30mins at 37 °C.

3.3.5 Cell viability assay

The Alamar blue assay (Biosource International, Camarillo, CA, USA) is designed for the measurement of cell viability. It incorporates a fluorometric indicator based on detection of metabolic activity. The oxidized form of Alamar blue (AB), which has little intrinsic fluorescence, becomes reduced in viable cells, and the reduced form of the AB is highly fluorescent. The viability of the cells can be quantified by the extent of this conversion ²¹. As negative control, AB was added to the medium without cells. The plate was further incubated for 1hour at 37.0 ⁰C. To examine cell viability, MSCs were loaded with Alamar blue at the final concentration of 10%. Under each experiment, fluorescence of Alamar blue was measured on three separate cell monolayers at an excitation wavelength of 545 nm and an emission wavelength of 590 nm by a fluorescence microplate reader (Synergy HT Multi-Mode Microplate Reader, Bio-Tek). The cell viability was calculated as the ration of fluorescence intensity in treated to untreated cells.

3.3.6 Quantification of DNA contents

The Quant-iT PicoGreen assay is a method used to quantify DNA. It is a nonspecific method that relies strictly on the total amount of DNA present rather than the presence of a specific gene. Briefly, cells were washed once with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) after removal of culture medium andlysed in 200 ml of 25mM Tris/0.5% Triton X-100 (pH 8) solution followed by three freeze/thaw cycles. Quantification of DNA contents was conducted according the manufacturer's instructions (Molecular Probe, TX). Fluorescence intensity was measured at an excitation wavelength of 480 nm and an emission wavelength of 520 nm by a fluorescence microplate reader (Synergy HT Multi-Mode Microplate Reader, Bio-Tek).

3.3.7 Alkaline phosphatase (AP) activity

The alkaline phosphatase (AP) detection is designed for the measurement of cell differentiation.Calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase (CIAP) for AP Detection was purchased from Promega (Madison, WI). The substrate (0.4mM of CSPD with Sapphire II, CD100RX) for AP was purchased from Applied Biosystems (Carlsbad, CA). Preparation method of cell lysates was same as a quantification method of DNA contents. Chemiluminescence of AP activity in each sample was detected by a chemiluminrscence microplate reader (Synergy HT Multi-Mode Microplate Reader, Bio-Tek). The light output from each sample was integrated for 10 seconds after a 2 second delay. Chemiluminescence data were calibrated with a CIAP standard curve to present AP activity.

3.3.8 Interleukin 6 expression

Levels of IL-6 were determined by specific sandwich ELISAs, according to the manufacturer's instructions. IL-8 human antibody pair and buffer kit were purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA).

3.3.9 Von Kossa Staining

The cell cultures were washed twice with PBS, fixed in phosphate buffered formalin for 10 min, washed once with de-ionized water, and serially dehydrated in 70%, 95%, and 100% ethanol two times and dried. The cells were then rehydrated in 100%, 95%, 80% EtOH, and de-ionized water. After addition of 5% silver nitrate solution, the wells were exposed to sunlight for 20 minutes (or light for 2 h) after which the plate was rinsed with water. After addition of sodium thiosulfate (5%) for 3 minutes, the cells were then rinsed in water. Acid fuchsin counterstain (5 ml of 1% acid fuchsin + 95 ml of picric

acid + 0.25 ml of 12N HCL) was added to cell layers for 5 minutes. The cells were washed with de-ionized water, twice with 95% EtOH, twice with 100% EtOH, and dried for image analysis .The number of mineraized nodules was quantified using a 10 X objective.²²

3.3.10 Measurement of mechanical and surface property of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds

The surface properties of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds were investigated by water contact angle (WCA) measurement. A 2 μ L water droplet was dripped on the dried surface of a MWCNT-collagen scaffold. The image was captured 6 seconds after the water droplet was dripped on the surface. Contact angles (left and right) were measured by an optical contact angle meter (VCA Optima, AST products Inc.).

Compressive testing was performed on MWCNT-collagen scaffolds in wells of a 24 well plate. The height of each sample from the bottom of the well was approximately 5 mm, and the surface are of the bottom of the well was $1.9 \ cm^2$. The diameter of the probe that was used was 10 mm. The test was performed at and extension rate of 10 mm/min until failure was reached, using an Instron 5542 apparatus (Instron, Norwood, MA). Yong modulus was determined from the elastic regime slope of stress–strain curves (<40% strain).

3.3.11 Statistical Analysis

Statistically significant differences were set $p \le 0.05$. Statistically significant differences were set $p \le 0.05$. Statistical analyses were carried out using one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison tests.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Effect of concentration of MWCNTs on MSC' differentiation in MWCNT-collagen scaffolds

Different concentrations of MWCNTs were added to collagen scaffolds. MSCs were seeded onto the MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. When MSCs reach confluence, the cell culture media was replaced with differentiating media. AP activity was measured at four day interval. Collagen itself enhanced MSCs differentiation. MWCNTs added to collagen scaffolds induced an additional increase in MSCs differentiation. MWCNT-collagen scaffolds induced significantly higher level of AP activity than plastic surface 12 days after replacement with differentiating media. MWCNT-Collagen scaffold-induced AP activities were not dose dependent (Figure 3.1). Although AP levels were higher in MWCNT-scaffolds at all concentrations of MWCNTs, transparency of the scaffolds reduced as the concentrations of MWCNTs increased (Figure 3.2). Transparency of the MWCNT-collagen scaffolds was good at lower MWCNT concentrations (<100ppm of MWCNTs), but was significantly reduced at higher MWCNT concentrations (>100 ppm of MWCNTs).

3.4.2 Effects of different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds on MSC' differentiation

Three different types (MWCNT, MWCNT-OH, MWCNT-COOH) of MWCNTs with two different length were added to collagen scaffolds at 10 ppm of MWCNTs. When MSCs reach confluence, the cell culture media was replaced with differentiating media. AP activity was measured at four day interval. AP activity increased as the cells were differentiated on all different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. The level of AP activity of MSCs was higher on all different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. At the day 12, all types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds induced the higher level of MSC differentiation, compared to the plastic surface and collagen controls (# p<0.05) (Figure 3.3). However, different types of MWCNTs did not show significantly differences in AP activity on MWCNT-collagen scaffolds.

3.4.3 Effects of different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds on the formation of mineralized matrix nodules

Three different types (MWCNT, MWCNT-OH, MWCNT-COOH) of MWCNTs with two different length were added to collagen scaffolds at 10 ppm of MWCNTs. When MSCs reach confluence, the cell culture media was replaced with differentiating media. As the days increased, MSCs induced the increased mineralized nodules. The area of mineralized matrix nodules was significantly higher at day 15 (Figure 3.4). Especially, MSCs on both MWCNT-collagen (short) and MWCNT-OH-collagen (short) scaffolds induced significant increase in mineralization of matrix nodules (Figure 3.4).

3.4.4 Effects of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds on cell viability and cell proliferation

There was no significant change in cell viability among different types of MWCNT-collagen. Significant decrease in cell viability on MWCNT-collagen scaffolds was observed only at day 4 (Figure 3.5A). All types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds did not induce a detrimental effect on cell proliferation (Figure 3.5B). In most cases, cell proliferation was increased during this period.

3.4.5 Effects of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds on inflammatory response

The levels of IL-6 expression did not change significantly as the days increased. However, IL-6 levels were significantly lower on all types of functionalized MWCNT- collagen scaffolds, except MWCNT (long)-collagen scaffolds, than plastic surfaces (Figure 3.6) (# p<0.05).

3.4.6 Mechanical properties of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds

Contact angles of collagen scaffolds are higher than those of plastic surface, but they are not significantly different. There was no significant difference in contact angles among different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds (Figure 3.7). The elastic modulus increases with the addition of MWCNTs to the collagen gels. The stiffness was varied as we increased the concentrations of MWCNTs in collagen scaffolds. 50 ppm of MWCNTs in MWCNT-collagen scaffolds showed significantly higher stiffness than others (Figure 3.8).

3.5 Discussion

All cells or tissues are exposed to the specific microenvironments that are generated locally at the micro- or nano-scale level by cell–cell, cell-soluble factor, or cell–extracellular matrix interactions and that influences cell functions in their tissues. Especially, each cell type is specifically tuned to the specific microenvironments in which it resides. For example, the brain tissues are softer than bone tissues. Consequently, neural cell growth, survival and differentiation are favored by a highly compliant matrix. By contrast, osteoblast differentiation and survival occurs preferentially on stiffer extracellular matrices with material properties more similar to newly formed bone ²³. ECM or ECM-like structure can create cellular microenvironment for specific cells or tissues. In addition to creating cellular microenvironment using ECMs, nanomaterials can be used to compensate for ECM scaffold limitations such as weak mechanical properties, lack of electrical conductivity, and the absence of microenvironment-defining moieties.¹⁶

We hypothesized that augmenting the properties of naturally derived polymers (collagen, in this study) through incorporation of MWCNTs might enhance *in vitro* osteogenic differentiation and mineralization of MSCs.

In our study, MWCNTs were distributed in collagen matrix, and strongly entrapped in collagen (1 mg/ml) at the concentrations below 100 ppm. At these concentrations (0 - 100ppm), MWCNT-collagen scaffolds showed excellent transparency, which is appropriate for cell culture and microscopic observation (Figure 3.1). MSCs were used to mimic the subsequent stages of osteoblastic differentiation *in vitro*. In the initial phases of differentiation process, the undifferentiated MSCs became committed and started to proliferate to osteoprogenitors and pre-osteoblasts subsequently. After we changed with the differentiating media after 4 days culture in 48well plate on those scaffolds, pre-osteoblasts were matured into osteoblasts. During this process, matrix was matured, AP (Figures 3.1 and 3.3) and collagen I were released. Subsequently, cells started to mature the extracellular matrix and mineralized matrix nodules appeared (Figure 3.4). Higher level of AP was released from MSCs on MWCNT-collagen scaffolds and collagen than plastic surface (Figure 3.1). The levels of AP were higher on all different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds than collagen and plastic surface (Figure 3.3). In addition, MSCs on both MWCNT-collagens (short) and MWCNT-OHcollagen (short) scaffolds induced significant increase in mineralization of matrix nodules (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.1 Effect of concentration of MWCNTs on MSCs' differentiation in MWCNTcollagen scaffolds. Different concentrations of MWCNTs were added to collagen scaffolds. MSCs were seeded onto the MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. When MSCs reach confluence, the cell culture media was replaced with differentiating media. AP activity was measured at four day interval. * denotes a significantly higher difference than the control (0 hour) (p<0.05). # denotes significantly higher difference than both plastic and collagen control at the same time point (p<0.05).</p>



Collagen only Collagen + 10ppm CNT Collagen + 100ppm CNT

Figure 3.2 Transparency of collagen, collagen0 MWCNT composite materials coated dishes. This shows a comparison of the color and the transparency of the collagen-coated dish and the MWCNT-collagen coated dish. The MWCNT-collagen coated dish looked slightly gray but had good transparency.



Figure 3.3 AP activity of MSC cultured on the different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds at 0, 4, 8, and 12 days. * denotes a significantly higher difference than control (day 0) (p<0.05). # denotes a significantly higher difference than the plastic and collagen control at the same time point (p<0.05). MWCNT (L): MWCNT-collagen scaffold (long). MWCNT (S): MWCNT -collagen scaffold (short). All types of MWCNT concentration in scaffolds were 10ppm.



Figure 3.4 Von Kossa staining of MSC cultured on different cell culture matrixes. Quantification of nodular von Kossa staining using image analysis in the same experiment. * denotes a significantly higher difference than day 5 control (p<0.05). # denotes a significantly higher difference than the same time point plastic scaffolds control (p<0.05). All types of MWCNT concentration in scaffolds were 10ppm.







MWCNT-COOH) of MWCNTs (20 - 30 nm in diameter) with two different length (long; 10-20 nm and short; 0.5 - 2.0 nm) were added to collagen scaffolds at 10 ppm of MWCNTs. When MSCs reach confluence, the cell culture media was replaced with differentiating media. Cell viability and cell proliferation were measured after replacement of differentiating media. * denotes a significantly higher difference than the control (day 0) (p < 0.05). # denotes a significantly higher difference than the plastic control at the same time point (p<0.05).



Figure 3.6 IL-6 expressions from MSC on different types of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. Effects of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds on inflammatory response. Three different types (MWCNT, MWCNT-OH, MWCNT-COOH) of MWCNTs (20 - 30 nm in diameter) with two different length (long; 10-20 nm and short; 0.5 - 2.0 nm) were added to collagen scaffolds at 10 ppm of MWCNTs. When MSCs reach confluence, the cell culture media was replaced with differentiating media. IL-6 expression was measured at four day interval after replacement of differentiating media. # denotes a significantly lower difference than the plastic control at the same time point (p<0.05).</p>



Figure 3.7 Contact angle measurements on various MWCNT-collagen scaffolds. The water ability of the surface was investigated by water contact angle (WCA) measurement. The testing was measured by using a 2 μ L water droplet on the surfaces under ambient conditions with an optical contact angle meter. The image was captured at 6 s after the water droplet was dripped on the surface.



Figure 3.8 Measurements of elastic modulus in collagen gels with varying MWCNT-COOH concentration. Compressive testing was performed on MWCNTcollagen scaffolds (191mm²) at 10 mm/min until failure was reached, using an Instron 5542 apparatus (Instron, Norwood, MA). Yong modulus was determined from the elastic regime slope of stress–strain curves (<40% strain). # denotes a significant difference in elastic modulus from the pure collagen gel.

Structurally, collagen provides tensile strength to tissues via its hierarchical assembly of collagen subunits. However, in addition to biologic signaling and macroscopic mechanical properties, collagen also possesses nano-scaled features that are mediators of cell activity. Previous studies have shown that changes made to certain features, such as structural curvature of the collagen fibrils, can regulate the activities of adherent cells. Nano-structure and nano-scale materials play important roles in tissue

engineering applications. CNTs have been used to modulate cell behavior through their electrical conductivity, and mechanically to reinforce or tailor the structural properties of tissue engineered scaffolds. In addition, CNTs have been used to increase the surface roughness and surface area of scaffolds for cell adhesion.¹ In this study, collagen itself enhanced MSCs differentiation and mineralization due to its nano-scaled feature. MWCNTs added to collagen scaffolds induced an additional increase in MSCs differentiation and mineralization. Additional increase in MSC differentiation and mineralization may be due to the increased stiffness and tensile strength of MWCNTcollagen scaffolds (Figure 3.8). However, it is still not clear that surface properties of MWCNT-collagen scaffolds affect MSC differentiation and mineralization in this study. Collagen scaffolds with functionalized MWCNTs (-COOH and -OH) induced significantly lower level of IL-6 than other scaffolds and plastic surface. Additional surface analysis and different methods for incorporating nanomaterials will be required to verify whether surface properties of nanocomposite scaffolds increase or decrease inflammatory response as well as cell differentiation. Future strategies could involve incorporating nanoscale materials inside or on the outer surfaces of 3D scaffolds to investigate mechanical property-dependent changes in cellular processes. A more complete and fundamental understanding of cellular micro-biomechanics and its relationship to MSC proliferation and differentiation will be a critical element for the development of functional tissues in vitro.

References

1. Baker, B.A. & Choi, J.H. Oligonucleotide DNA and RNA as direct capping ligand for nanocrystals: an emerging method for biological diagnostics and therapeutics. *Nano* **4**, 189-199 (2009).

- 2. Oberlin, A., Endo, M. & Koyama, T. Filamentous growth of carbon through benzene decomposition. *J. of Crystal Growth* **32**, 335-349 (1976).
- 3. Chen, R.J., Zhang, Y.G., Wang, D.W. & Dai, H.J. Noncovalent sidewall functionalization of single-walled carbon nanotubes for protein immobilization. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **123**, 3838-3839 (2001).
- 4. Cui, D.X., Tian, F.R., Kong, Y., Titushikin, I. & Gao, H.J. Effects of singlewalled carbon nanotubes on the polymerase chain reaction. *Nanotechnology* **15**, 154-157 (2004).
- 5. Gao, L.Z., *et al.* Carbon nanotube delivery of the GFP gene into mammalian cells. *ChemBioChem.* **7**, 239-242 (2006).
- 6. Heller, D.A., Baik, S., Eurell, T.E. & Strano, M.S. Single-walled carbon nanotube spectroscopy in live cells: Towards long-term labels and optical sensors. *Adv. Mater.* **17**, 2793-+ (2005).
- Hu, H., Ni, Y.C., Montana, V., Haddon, R.C. & Parpura, V. Chemically functionalized carbon nanotubes as substrates for neuronal growth. *Nano Lett.* 4, 507-511 (2004).
- 8. Jan, E. & Kotov, N.A. Successful differentiation of mouse neural stem cells on layer-by-layer assembled single-walled carbon nanotube composite. *Nano Lett.* **7**, 1123-1128 (2007).
- 9. Price, R.L., Waid, M.C., Haberstroh, K.M. & Webster, T.J. Selective bone cell adhesion on formulations containing carbon nanofibers. *Biomaterials* **24**, 1877-1887 (2003).
- 10. Ajima, K., Yudasaka, M., Maigne, A., Miyawaki, J. & Iijima, S. Effect of functional groups at hole edges on cisplatin release from inside single-wall carbon nanohorns. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **110**, 5773-5778 (2006).
- 11. Feazell, R.P., Nakayama-Ratchford, N., Dai, H. & Lippard, S.J. Soluble singlewalled carbon nanotubes as longboat delivery systems for Platinum(IV) anticancer drug design. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **129**, 8438-+ (2007).
- 12. Usui, Y., *et al.* Carbon nanotubes with high bone-tissue compatibility and bone-formation acceleration effects. *Small* **4**, 240-246 (2008).
- 13. Wang, W., *et al.* Mechanical properties and biological behavior of carbon nanotube/polycarbosilane composites for implant materials. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part B* **82B**, 223-230 (2007).

- 14. Edwards, S.L., *et al.* Modeling Tissue Growth Within Nonwoven Scaffolds Pores. *Tissue Eng. Part C-Methods* **17**, 123-130 (2011).
- 15. Woo, J., Kim, S., Kim, D., Jo, S. & Noh, I. Cellular behaviors on the chitosancoated porous poly(lactide-co-glycolide) hybrid scaffolds modified by ion beams. *Surf. Coat. Technol.* **205**, S398-S404 (2010).
- 16. Dvir, T., Timko, B.P., Kohane, D.S. & Langer, R. Nanotechnological strategies for engineering complex tissues. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **6**, 13-22 (2011).
- Ajayan, P.M. & Ebbesen, T.W. Nanometre-size tubes of carbon. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* 60, 1025-1062 (1997).
- MacDonald, R.A., Laurenzi, B.F., Viswanathan, G., Ajayan, P.M. & Stegemann, J.P. Collagen-carbon nanotube composite materials as scaffolds in tissue engineering. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 74, 489-496 (2005).
- 19. Suhr, J., *et al.* Fatigue resistance of aligned carbon nanotube arrays under cyclic compression. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2**, 417-421 (2007).
- 20. Wang, S.F., Shen, L., Zhang, W.D. & Tong, Y.J. Preparation and mechanical properties of chitosan/carbon nanotubes composites. *Biomacromolecules* **6**, 3067-3072 (2005).
- 21. Gloeckner, H., Jonuleit, T. & Lemke, H.-D. Monitoring of cell viability and cell growth in a hollow-fiber bioreactor by use of the dye Alamar Blue(TM). *J. Immunological Methods* **252**, 131-138 (2001).
- 22. Bonewald, L.F., *et al.* von Kossa staining alone is not sufficient to confirm that mineralization in vitro represents bone formation. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* **72**, 537-547 (2003).
- 23. Butcher, D.T., Alliston, T. & Weaver, V.M. A tense situation: forcing tumour progression. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **9**, 108-122 (2009).
CHAPTER 4

EFFECT OF EXPOSURE CONDITIONS ON SWCNT-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE IN HUMAN ALVEOLAR EPITHELIAL CELLS

4.1 Abstract

There has been an increasing interest in the development and applications of carbon nanotubes (CNTs) due to their huge potential in industrial and medical applications, but the toxicological properties of these materials have not been well characterized, especially the effects of nanoparticle exposure under different conditions on cellular responses. Nano-structured particles are potentially hazardous when they deposit in the respiratory system. In this study, we characterized the effects of single walled CNT (SWCNT) exposure on interleukin-8 (IL-8) expression in human alveolar epithelial cells (A549) under various exposure conditions. We measured the level of IL-8 expression in the presence and absence of serum following exposure of SWCNTs. The results demonstrated that IL-8 expression was enhanced in the presence of serum. When A549 cells were exposed to low concentrations of SWCNTs, IL-8 expression kept increasing, even after removal of SWCNTs from the media. In addition, SWCNT exposure under dynamic cell growth condition induced changes in IL-8 expression.

4.2 Introduction

Nanotechnology has the tremendous potential to improve the effectiveness of a number of industrial products and could have a substantial impact on the development of new products in all sectors, ranging from disease diagnosis and treatments to environmental remediation ^{1,2}. Nanotechnology is anticipated to become the strategic and dominating science and engineering field of the 21st century. Based on this expectation,

the U.S. President and the National Science and Technology Council to promote nanotechnology and to predict that it would lead the United States to the next industrial revolution.³ Since the discovery of the carbon nanotubes (CNTs) in 1991,⁴ there has been an increasing interest in these materials because of their huge potential in industrial and medical applications. CNTs have been widely used in polymer nanocomposites,⁵ biomedical applications,⁶⁻⁹ and electronics¹⁰ due to their physical, chemical, thermal and optical properties.¹¹ Consequently, the size of the global market for CNTs have not been well characterized, especially in the lungs and skin, which are regarded as the most likely exposure sites during manufacture and material handling.¹³⁻¹⁹ Possible exposure conditions of CNTs and their adverse effects will vary among application types and environments.

Animal studies with engineered nanoparticles have shown some adverse effects on the lung (e.g., pulmonary inflammation and progressive fibrosis)^{3,20,21} and cardiovascular systems (e.g., inflammation, blood platelet activation, plaque formation, and thrombosis).²²⁻²⁴ Other studies have suggested that discrete nanoparticles may enter the bloodstream from the lungs and translocate to other organs such as the brain, through the olfactory nerve.^{16,25,26} *In vitro* studies demonstrated that highly purified single walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) induced the release of inflammatory makers such as nitric oxide and Interleukin-8 (IL-8).^{21,27-34} Casey and co-workers also demonstrated the possible effect of media components on SECNT-induced cellular responses.³⁵ The interactions among SWCNTs, media components, and cells may affect cell viability, cellular inflammatory responses, and other toxicological responses. However, the mechanisms of these interactions have not been well characterized. In addition, most cases of *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies involved high concentrations of SWCNTs (50~ 800 μ g/ml) and extended exposure times (>24 hours).^{31,33,36,37}

This study was spurred by the following fundamental questions: 1) What other environmental factors may affect the nanoparticle-related inflammatory responses or lead to cellular toxicity? 2) Are these additional factors related to the translocation of nanoparticles? 3) Is the nanoparticle-induced inflammatory response alleviated by removing nanoparticles following exposure? In this study, we monitored the SWCNTinduced IL-8 expression as an inflammatory markers under different exposure conditions, including concentrations, exposure times, and the presence of serum. We also measured the SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression in static and dynamic cell growth conditions. SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression was enhanced in the presence of serum and kept increasing after removal of SWCNTs, especially following exposure to low concentrations of SWCNTs. In addition, cellular exposure to SWCNTs in a dynamic cell growth condition changed IL-8 expression and cell proliferation.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Materials and Reagents

HiPco derived SWCNTs were purchased from Cheap Tubes Inc. (Brattleboro, VT). The Pierce bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay kit was obtained from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Rockford, IL). The Human IL-8 CytoSetTM was obtained from Invitrogen Corporation (Carlsbad, CA).

4.3.2 Cell Culture

A549 (human alveolar epithelial cells), a human lung adenocarcinoma with the alveolar type II phenotype, were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA). Cells were maintained in T-75 culture flasks in a humidified incubator at 37° C with 5% CO₂ and 95% air, and grown to confluence for 2-3 days in F-12K medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL). Media was supplemented with penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen, CA) and 10% of fetal bovine serum (Hyclone, UT). Cells were sub-cultured using trypsin-EDTA (Invitrogen, CA) upon reaching 80-90% confluence.

4.3.3 Experimental Design

In order to investigate the effect of serum on SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression and cell proliferation, A549 cells were cultured in 24-well plates at a density of 4×10^4 cells/well. Cells were incubated until they reached more than 90% confluence and were then exposed SWCNTs. SWCNTs stock suspensions were made in both the serum free and serum containing media. Cells were exposed to two different concentrations (4 µg/ml and 8 µg/ml) of SWCNTs for 0, 1, 3, 6 and 24 hours (Figure 4.1). Cell and media samples were collected and immediately stored at -80°C until analysis.

In order to study the effects of exposure time on SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression and cell proliferation, A549 cells were prepared and incubated in the same manner described above, but were exposed to six different concentrations (2, 4, 8, 20, 40, and 80 μ g/ml) of SWCNTs in the serum containing media for 0, 1, 3, 6 and 24 hours (Figure 4.2). Cell and media samples were collected and immediately stored at -80°C until analysis.

To study the effects of exposure and recovery time on SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression and cell proliferation, A549 cells were prepared and incubated in the same manner described above. Cells were exposed to two different concentrations (4 and 40µg/ml of SWCNTs in serum containing media for 6 (Figure 4.3) and 24 hours (Figure 4.4). Following exposure to SWCNTs, the culture media containing SWCNTs was replaced with the fresh SWCNT-free media. Cells grew in the fresh media up to 96 hours. Cell and media samples were collected and immediately stored at -80°C until analysis.

For experiments implementing a dynamic cell growth environment during SWCNT exposure, A549 cells were seeded at 3×10^5 cells (per well) into six well BioFlex plates (Flexcell International, PA) containing 2 ml of complete F-12k medium. After cells reached confluence, they were exposed to SWCNTs at different concentrations (5, 10, and 20 µg/ml) under static or dynamic conditions for 24 hours. The dynamic cell growth condition was implemented using Flexcell® Tension PlusTM 4000T system, which used vacuum pressure to apply cyclic strain to cells cultured on BioFlex plates. During the course of dynamic cell growth, cyclic stretching was applied to silastic well-bottoms of BioFlex plates to attain 5% surface elongation at the frequency of 0.2 Hz, which corresponds to 45% of the total lung capacity, similar to the normal breathing conditions in the lung (Tschumperlin and Margulies, 1998). Directly after 24 hour exposure, both media and cell lysate samples were collected and stored at -80 °C until analysis.

4.3.4 Preparation of SWCNTs

The residual metal content of the SWCNTs used in this study was 3% - 12% by weight, and the individual size ranges of SWCNTs were 0.8-1.2nm in diameter and 100-1000nm in length. The SWCNTs were added to distilled water and sonicated for 10

minutes with 10 second cooling time per 1 minute sonication cycle using Sonicator 3000 manufactured by Misonix (Farmingdale, NY). After sonication, a nontoxic surfactant polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) (Fisher Scientific, PA) was added to the SWCNT solution to inhibit the aggregation of SWCNTs in the solution. Stock suspensions of SWCNTs were added to cell culture media (F-12K) with or without 10% of fetal bovine serum.

4.3.5 Cell Proliferation Assay

Cells grown in each well were lysed using 100 μ L of triton X-100 following each exposure condition and stored at -80 °C until analysis. Total protein concentrations from each sample were measured using a BCA total protein assay (Pierce, IL) to evaluate cell proliferation.

4.3.6 Interleukin 8 Expression

Levels of IL-8 were determined from the supernatant of A549 cells by specific sandwich ELISAs, according to the manufacturer's instructions. IL-8 human antibody pair and buffer kit were purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA).

4.3.7 Statistical Analysis

Statistically significant differences were set $p \le 0.05$. Statistical analyses were carried out using one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison tests.

4.4.1 Effects of SWCNTs on Cell Proliferation and IL-8 Expression in Serum-containing and Serum-free media

As the exposure time increased, IL-8 expression dramatically increased following cellular exposure to SWCNTs in serum-containing media. The level of IL-8 expression in serum-containing media was significantly higher than the control (1 hour exposure) after 24 hours of exposure at both concentrations (4 μ g/ml and 8 μ g/ml) (Figure 4.1A). Cell proliferation was not significantly diffrent as exposure time increased at both concentrations (4 μ g/ml and 8 μ g/ml). However, cell proliferation was higher in serum-containing media at 4 μ g/ml of SWCNTs (Figure 4.1B).

4.4.2 Effects of Exposure Time on Cell Proliferation and IL-8 Expression at Different Concentrations of SWCNTs

Cells were exposed to six different concentrations ((2, 4, 8, 20, 40, 80 μ g/ml)) of SWCNTs. IL-8 expression significantly increased (Figure 4.2A) as the exposure time increased over 24 hours at all concentrations of SWCNTs. However, no significant changes in cell proliferation were observed at most concentrations of SWCNTs during 24 hour exposure.

4.4.3 Effects of Recovery Time on SWCNT-induced IL-8 Expression and Cell Proliferation

Following exposure to SWCNTs at a lower concentration (4 μ g/ml) for 6 hours, the media was replaced with fresh SWCNT-free media. 72 and 96 hours after removing the SWCNTs, L-8 levels were significantly higher than the levels seen in the control grown for the same period of time (Figure 4.3A). Protein concentrations were significantly higher than the 0 hour control, 48 and 96 hour after removing SWCNTs (Figure 4.3B). However, following exposure to SWCNTs at a higher concentration (40 μ g/ml) for 6 hours, IL-8 expression stopped increasing after removal of SWCNTs (Figure 4.3A). No significant change in cell proliferation was observed in this case (Figure 4.3B). At a longer exposure time (24 hours), the levels of IL-8 and cell proliferation were different. Following exposure to SWCNTs at both concentrations (4 and 40 μ g/ml) for 24 hours, IL-8 expression significantly increased after removal of SWCNTs (Figure 4.4A), but cell proliferation significantly decreased at both concentrations (4 and 40 μ g/ml) even after removal of SWCNTs (Figure 4.4B).

4.4.4 Effects of Dynamic Environment on SWCNT-induced IL-8 Expression and Cell Proliferation

To demonstrate the effects of dynamic cell growth conditions on the SWCNTinduced IL-8 expression and cell proliferation, cells were grown in a dynamic cell growth condition while being exposed to SWCNT at 5, 10, and 20 µg/ml for 24 hours (Figure 4.5). Following exposure to SWCNTs for 24 hours, A549 cells grown in the dynamic cell growth condition showed a significant increase in IL-8 level at all exposure concentrations as compared to cells grown in the static condition. Under the dynamic cell growth condition, the IL-8 levels at all SWCNT concentrations (5, 10, and 20 µg/ml) were significantly higher than the control (0 µg/ml after 24 hour cyclic stretching). Under static cell growth condition, IL-8 level was significantly higher at 20 µg/ml of SWCNTs than the control (0 µg/ml under static condition) (Figure 4.5A). Dynamic cell growth conditions also altered cell proliferation during the exposure of cells to SWCNTs. After 24 hours of cyclic stretching in the dynamic growth environment, cells demonstrated increased proliferation regardless of whether SWCNT was present in their media, however, cells grown under static conditions did not demonstrate the same increase. Following cyclic stretching for 24 hours, A549 cell proliferation was enhanced either in the absence (0 μ g/ml) or presence (20 μ g/ml) of SWCNTs (Figure 4.5B). However, cell proliferation was not significantly changed following exposure to SWCNTs under static cell growth condition. There was no significant difference in cell proliferation between static and dynamic cell growth conditions at SWCNTs concentrations of 5 and 10 μ g/ml of. Cell proliferation at SWCNT concentration of 10 μ g/ml of was significantly lower than the control (0 μ g/ml after 24 hour cyclic stretching) under dynamic cell growth conditions (Figure 4.5B).

4.5 Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the pro-inflammatory effect of SWCNTs on A549 cells under several different exposure conditions. SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression was enhanced in the presence of serum. IL-8 expression was induced by SWCNTs and kept increasing even after removing SWCNTs; especially following exposure to lower concentrations of SWCNTs. SWCNT exposure under dynamic cell growth conditions induced changes in IL-8 expression and cell proliferation. However, we did not observe any significant change in IL-8 expression with increasing concentration, although we observed significant change in the levels of another inflammatory marker (i.e. nitric oxide (NO) in both A549 and primary normal human bronchial epithelial (NHBE) cells in a previous publication ³³. Interestingly, Herzog and co-workers showed that SWCNT suppressed inflammatory responses (IL-8 and IL-6 expression) in A549 cells ³¹. In the case of nanomaterials, the uncertainties are great because the characteristics of nanoparticles may be different from those of larger particles with the same chemical composition.





Figure 4.1 Effects of SWCNTs on cell proliferation and IL-8 expression in serumcontaining and serum-free media. IL-8 was measured by ELISA (Figure

Figure 4.1 (continued)

4.1A) and total protein concentration was determined by the BCA protein assay (Figure 4.1B), following exposure of SWCNTs at 4 μ g/ml and § μ g/ml either in the presence (10% of serum in the media) or absence of serum. * denotes a significant difference between data in the serum containing and serum free media (p<0.05). # denotes a significantly higher difference than the 1 hour exposure control (p<0.05).



Figure 4.2 Effects of exposure time on cell proliferation and IL-8 expression at different concentrations of SWCNTs. A549 cells were exposed to SWCNTs

Figure 4.2 (continued)

at six different concentrations, IL-8 and cell proliferation were measured as exposure time increased. IL-8 was measured by ELISA (Figure 4.2A) and total protein concentration was determined by the BCA protein assay (Figure 4.2B). 0 hour were used as control. * denotes a significantly higher (or lower) difference than the control (0 hour) (p< 0.05).



Figure 4.3 Effects of recovery time on SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression. A549 cells were exposed to SWCNTs at low and high concentrations for 6 hours,

Figure 4.3 (continued)

media was then replaced with SWCNT-free media. IL-8 and cell proliferation were consistently measured at 0, 24, 48, 96 hour after removal of SWCNTs. IL-8 was measured by ELISA (Figure 4.3A) and total protein concentration was determined by the BCA protein assay (Figure 4.3B). Untreated samples and 0 hour were used as controls. * denotes a significantly higher difference than the control (0 hour) (p< 0.05). # denotes a significantly higher difference than the same time point control at 0 µg/ml of SWCNTs (p< 0.05).



Figure 4.4 Effects of recovery time on SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression. A549 cells were exposed to SWCNTs at low and high concentrations for 24 hours, media was then replaced with SWCNT-free media.

Figure 4.4 (continued)

IL-8 and cell proliferation were consistently measured at 0, 24, 48, 96 hour after removal of SWCNTs. IL-8 was measured by ELISA (Figure 4.4A) and total protein concentration was determined by the BCA protein assay (Figure 4.4B). Untreated (0 μ g/ml of SWCNTs) and 0 hour samples were used as controls. *denotes a significantly higher difference than the control (0 hour) (p< 0.05). # denotes a significantly higher difference than the same time point control at 0 μ g/ml of SWCNTs (p< 0.05).





Figure 4.5 Effects of the dynamic environment on SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression and A549 cell proliferation. A549 cells were exposed to SWCNTs at 5, 10, and 20 µg/ml. Cells were grown under static and dynamic cell growth conditions

Figure 4.5 (continued)

for 24 hours. IL-8 was measured from culture media to characterize the inflammatory response of A549 cells exposed to different concentrations of SWCNTs under static and dynamic cell growth conditions (Figure 4.5A). Total amount of protein was measured from cell lysate of each sample (Figure 4.5B). * denotes a significantly higher difference than the static condition at each concentration of SWCNT (p<0.03 in Figure 5A and p<0.05 in Figure 5B). # denote a significantly higher (or lower) difference than the control for dynamic cell growth condition (p<0.05).

In this study, the changes in cell proliferation were not time-dependent or insignificant following exposure to SWCNTs. The SWCNT exposure started following confluence of cells. Some fluctuation in cell proliferation can be explained by likely damage to cellular components, while cells continued to proliferate. This was especially evident in the dynamic cell growth condition where part of the cell layers may have repeatedly detached and been recovered.

Previous studies showed that SWCNTs strongly interact with a large range of molecular species.³⁸⁻⁴³ Higher toxicity was previously observed in samples that were exposure to SWCNTs at high concentrations (400- 800μ g/ml) when grown in serum-free media.⁴⁴ However, at the lower concentrations (4 and 8 μ g/ml) of SWCNTs from this study, higher inflammatory responses were observed in the presence of serum (Figure 4.1A) while no significant decrease in cell proliferations was observed (Figure 4.1B). Increased toxicity might be due to nutrient deficiencies and higher concentration of SWCNTs.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ In this study, we observed that more SWNCTs penetrated into the cell in

the presence of serum (data not shown). Casey and co-workers suggested that SWCNTs may interact with media components by physical adsorption such as van der Waals force. They also demonstrated that serum affected the dispersion of the nanotubes.³⁵ Facilitated translocation of SWCNTs into the cells in the presence of serum might affect the enhanced IL-8 expression. However, the mechanism of the interaction between SWCNTs and unknown components of serum is not yet clear.

SWCNTs at high concentration (40 µg/ml) were more agglomerated. When we replaced the SWCNTs-containing media with fresh culture media following a 6 hour exposure, the aggregated forms of SWCNTs were more efficiently removed. In this case, IL-8 expression did not increase after removing SWCNTs following a shorter exposure (6 hour exposure) (Figure 3A). However, IL-8 expression kept increasing even after removal of SWCNTs following a relatively longer exposure (24 hours) (Figure 4.4A). Cell proliferation was also reduced after longer exposure times to higher concentrations of SWCNTs. Although their experimental systems were different from ours, other studies demonstrated that higher apoptotic cell death was observed at lower SWCNT exposure concentrations than higher concentrations in mouse model ^{27,47}. The effects of SWCNTs on cell proliferation and inflammatory responses were different between experimental systems (i.e. *in vitro* and animal model, static and dynamic systems)⁴⁸. In our study, the SWCNT-induced IL-8 expression was significantly higher in the dynamic condition than in the static condition. An increased level of IL-8 under dynamic cell growth conditions could be due to the initial increase in IL-8 caused by the implementation of a dynamic cell growth condition ^{49,50}. Elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines during SWCNT exposure under a dynamic cell growth condition may result from the altered

interaction between SWCNTs and A549 cell monolayers. Moreover, due to this altered interaction, cell proliferation was dramatically changed under dynamic cell growth conditions. Our results showed that the levels of inflammatory response could be altered under different exposure conditions. To identify the mechanisms of nanoparticle-induced inflammatory response under different exposure conditions, other inflammatory markers and various candidate biological markers (cellular component, macromolecules, other metabolic parameters, and cellular function) need to be monitored. In addition, comparative studies with normal cell lines and novel experimental set-ups for multiplexed screening of biological markers will be required to unravel the uncertainty of nanoparticle-induced inflammatory responses ⁵¹. Continued in vivo and in vitro toxicological research is needed to identify potential health endpoints related to occupational exposure to engineered nanoparticles. Epidemiological studies of exposed workers will be needed to establish associations between exposures to engineered nanoparticles and adverse health effects and to assess other potential exposure-response relationships.

References

- 1. Foldvari, M. & Bagonluri, M. Carbon nanotubes as functional excipients for nanomedicines: II. Drug delivery and biocompatibility issues. *Nanomedicine* **4**, 183-200 (2008).
- 2. Harrison, B.S. & Atala, A. Carbon nanotube applications for tissue engineering. *Biomaterials* **28**, 344-353 (2007).
- 3. Lam, C.W., James, J.T., McCluskey, R., Arepalli, S. & Hunter, R.L. A review of carbon nanotube toxicity and assessment of potential occupational and environmental health risks. *Crit. Rev. Toxicol.* **36**, 189-217 (2006).
- 4. Iijima, S. Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon. *Nature* **354**, 56-58 (1991).

- 6. Cherukuri, P., Bachilo, S.M., Litovsky, S.H. & Weisman, R.B. Near-infrared fluorescence microscopy of single-walled carbon nanotubes in phagocytic cells. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **126**, 15638-15639 (2004).
- 7. Ferrari, M. Cancer nanotechnology: Opportunities and challenges. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **5**, 161-171 (2005).
- 8. Ferrari, M. Nanovector therapeutics. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **9**, 343-346 (2005).
- 9. Martin, C.R. & Kohli, P. The emerging field of nanotube biotechnology. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **2**, 29-37 (2003).
- 10. de Jonge, N. & Bonard, J.M. Carbon nanotube electron sources and applications. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A-Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* **362**, 2239-2266 (2004).
- 11. Endo, M., Hayashi, T., Kim, Y.A., Terrones, M. & Dresselhaus, M.S. Applications of carbon nanotubes in the twenty-first century. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A-Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* **362**, 2223-2238 (2004).
- 12. Muller, J., Huaux, F. & Lison, D. Respiratory toxicity of carbon nanotubes: how worried should we be? *Carbon* **44**, 1048-1056 (2006).
- 13. Colvin, V.L. The potential environmental impact of engineered nanomaterials. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **21**, 1166-1170 (2003).
- 14. Hurt, R.H., Monthioux, M. & Kane, A. Toxicology of carbon nanomaterials: Status, trends, and perspectives on the special issue. *Carbon* **44**, 1028-1033 (2006).
- Manna, S.K., *et al.* Single-walled carbon nanotube induces oxidative stress and activates nuclear transcription factor-kappaB in human keratinocytes. *Nano Lett.* 5, 1676-1684 (2005).
- 16. Oberdorster, G., *et al.* Principles for characterizing the potential human health effects from exposure to nanomaterials: elements of a screening strategy. *Part Fibre Toxicol.* **2**, 8 (2005).
- 17. Service, R.F. Nanotoxicology: nanotechnology grows up. *Science* **304**, 1732-1734 (2004).
- 18. Service, R.F. Nanotechnology. Calls rise for more research on toxicology of nanomaterials. *Science* **310**, 1609 (2005).

- 19. Smart, S.K., Cassady, A.I., Lu, G.Q. & Martin, D.J. The biocompatibility of carbon nanotubes. *Carbon* **44**, 1034-1047 (2006).
- 20. Shvedova, A.A., *et al.* Unusual inflammatory and fibrogenic pulmonary responses to single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol Physiol.* **289**, L698-708 (2005).
- 21. Warheit, D.B., *et al.* Comparative pulmonary toxicity assessment of single-wall carbon nanotubes in rats. *Toxicol. Sci.* **77**, 117-125 (2004).
- 22. Donaldson, K., *et al.* Concordance between in vitro and in vivo dosimetry in the proinflammatory effects of low-toxicity, low-solubility particles: the key role of the proximal alveolar region. *Inhal. Toxicol.* **20**, 53-62 (2008).
- 23. Li, Z., *et al.* Cardiovascular effects of pulmonary exposure to single-wall carbon nanotubes. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **115**, 377-382 (2007).
- 24. Radomski, A., *et al.* Nanoparticle-induced platelet aggregation and vascular thrombosis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **146**, 882-893 (2005).
- 25. Oberdorster, G., *et al.* Extrapulmonary translocation of ultrafine carbon particles following whole-body inhalation exposure of rats. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A* **65**, 1531-1543 (2002).
- 26. Elder, A., *et al.* Translocation of inhaled ultrafine manganese oxide particles to the central nervous system. *Environ Health Perspect* **114**, 1172-1178 (2006).
- 27. Chou, C.C., *et al.* Single-walled carbon nanotubes can induce pulmonary injury in mouse model. *Nano Lett.* **8**, 437-445 (2008).
- 28. Allermann, L. & Poulsen, O.M. Interleukin-8 secretion from monocytic cell lines for evaluation of the inflammatory potential of organic dust. *Environ. Res.* **88**, 188-198 (2002).
- 29. Choi, S.J., Oh, J.M. & Choy, J.H. Toxicological effects of inorganic nanoparticles on human lung cancer A549 cells. *J. Inorg. Biochem.* **103**, 463-471 (2009).
- 30. Duffin, R., Tran, L., Brown, D., Stone, V. & Donaldson, K. Proinflammogenic effects of low-toxicity and metal nanoparticles in vivo and in vitro: Highlighting the role of particle surface area and surface reactivity. *Inhal. Toxicol.* **19**, 849-856 (2007).
- 31. Herzog, E., *et al.* SWCNT suppress inflammatory mediator responses in human lung epithelium in vitro. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **234**, 378-390 (2009).

- 32. Mitchell, L.A., *et al.* Pulmonary and systemic immune response to inhaled multiwalled carbon nanotubes. *Toxicol. Sci.* **100**, 203-214 (2007).
- 33. Stoker, E., Purser, F., Kwon, S., Park, Y.B. & Lee, J.S. Alternative estimation of human exposure of single-walled carbon nanotubes using three-dimensional tissue-engineered human lung. *Int. J. Toxicol.* **27**, 441-448 (2008).
- 34. Zhang, L.W., Zeng, L., Barron, A.R. & Monteiro-Riviere, N.A. Biological interactions of functionalized single-wall carbon nanotubes in human epidermal keratinocytes. *Int. J. Toxicol.* **26**, 103-113 (2007).
- 35. Casey, A., *et al.* Probing the interaction of single walled carbon nanotubes within cell culture medium as a precursor to toxicity testing. *Carbon* **45**, 34-40 (2007).
- 36. Lam, C.W., James, J.T., McCluskey, R., Arepalli, S. & Hunter, R.L. A review of carbon nanotube toxicity and assessment of potential occupational and environmental health risks. *Crit. Rev. Toxicol.* **36**, 189-217 (2006).
- 37. Ye, S.F., Wu, Y.H., Hou, Z.Q. & Zhang, Q.Q. ROS and NF-kappaB are involved in upregulation of IL-8 in A549 cells exposed to multi-walled carbon nanotubes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **379**, 643-648 (2009).
- Bandyopadhyaya, R., Nativ-Roth, E., Regev, O. & Yerushalmi-Rozen, R. Stabilization of individual carbon nanotubes in aqueous solutions. *Nano Lett.* 2, 25-28 (2002).
- 39. Casey, A., Farrell, G.F., McNamara, M., Byrne, H.J. & Chambers, G. Interaction of carbon nanotubes with sugar complexes. *Synth. Met.* **153**, 357-360 (2005).
- 40. Casey, A., *et al.* Single walled carbon nanotubes induce indirect cytotoxicity by medium depletion in A549 lung cells. *Toxicol Lett.* **179**, 78-84 (2008).
- 41. Keogh, S.M., *et al.* Temperature-induced nucleation of poly(p-phenylene vinylene-co-2,5-dioctyloxy-m-phenylene vinylene) crystallization by HiPco single-walled carbon nanotubes. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **109**, 5600-5607 (2005).
- 42. Moulton, S.E., *et al.* Biomolecules as selective dispersants for carbon nanotubes. *Carbon* **43**, 1879-1884 (2005).
- 43. Salvador-Morales, C., *et al.* Complement activation and protein adsorption by carbon nanotubes. *Mol. Immunol.* **43**, 193-201 (2006).
- 44. Davoren, M., *et al.* In vitro toxicity evaluation of single walled carbon nanotubes on human A549 lung cells. *Toxicol. In Vitro* **21**, 438-448 (2007).

- 45. Antonini, J.M. & Reasor, M.J. Effect of short-term exogenous pulmonary surfactant treatment on acute lung damage associated with the intratracheal instillation of silica. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health* **43**, 85-101 (1994).
- 46. Ozturk, S., Kaseko, G., Mahaworasilpa, T. & Coster, H.G. Adaptation of cell lines to serum-free culture medium. *Hybrid Hybridomics* **22**, 267-272 (2003).
- 47. Jacobsen, N.R., *et al.* Lung inflammation and genotoxicity following pulmonary exposure to nanoparticles in ApoE-/- mice. *Part Fibre Toxicol.***6**, 2 (2009).
- 48. Jones, C.F. & Grainger, D.W. In vitro assessments of nanomaterial toxicity. *Adv. Drug Delivery Reviews* **61**, 438-456 (2009).
- 49. Patel, H. & Kwon, S. Interplay Between Cytokine-Induced and Cyclic Equibiaxial Deformation-Induced Nitric Oxide Production and Metalloproteases Expression in Human Alveolar Epithelial Cells. *Cell. and Molec. Bioengineering* **2**, 615-624 (2009).
- 50. Yamamoto, H., Teramoto, H., Uetani, K., Igawa, K. & Shimizu, E. Stretch induces a growth factor in alveolar cells via protein kinase. *Respir. Physiol.* **127**, 105-111 (2001).
- 51. Schulte, P.A. The use of biomarkers in surveillance, medical screening, and intervention. *Mutat. Res.* **592**, 155-163 (2005).

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Summary and Conclusions

Carbon nanotubes have been widely used in biomedical engineering and materials science, especially since researchers suggest CNTs might be able to be used to bone tissue engineering application. At the same time, the urgent need for toxicological studies on carbon nanotubes has arisen. The objectives of this research were to estimate the CNTs-collagen scaffolds in tissue engineering application, and to find out the effect of exposure conditions on SWCNT-induced inflammatory response in human alveolar epithelial cells.

5.1.1 Applications of CNTs-collagen scaffolds in tissue engineering

In Chapter 3, we designed CNTs –collagen composite scaffolds using different types of MWCNT (functionalized and non-functionalized) with good optically transparent. Then the mesenchymal stem cell's viability, differentiation, mineralization and inflammatory response on those scaffolds were studied. The aim of this study was to test whether those type of scaffolds can improve mesenchymal stem cell differentiation and mineralization without changing too much of the cell viability and inflammatory marker release. The cell differentiation and mineralization levels were higher in the MWCNTs and collagen mixture scaffolds than the plastic-only and collagen-only were. The cell viability and inflammatory maker IL-6 level didn't change too much when comparing different types of MWCNT-collagen mixture scaffolds. Those results suggested that MWCNT and collagen mixture scaffolds might be able to provide a good nanostructure, mechanical binding and stiffness for MSC differentiation and mineralization.

5.1.2 Toxicity assessment of SWCNT

In Chapter 4, inflammatory marker (IL-8) expression in human alveolar epithelial cells under several different exposure conditions of SWCNT was measured. In this study we found IL-8 expression was enhanced in the presence of serum, and at low concentrations IL-8 expression kept increasing even after removal of SWCNTs from the media. We therefore surmise that serum was a defensive response of these lung cells to SWCNT exposure. Also the less aggregation of low concentrations of SWCNT might be the reason why IL-8 expression kept increasing even after removing SWCNTs, SWCNTs without aggregation were easily getting into cell and breaking down some mechanism of cell.

5.2 Recommendations

There has been a growth of interest in carbon nanotube materials because of their huge potential in industrial and research applications. Several studies of the application of carbon nanotubes have been carried for the substrate of cell culture, drug delivery systems and medical implant materials. However, there are not many researchers using CNT and collagen to test MSC's viability and proliferation, especially no studies using CNT and collagen composite for estimating MSC's differentiation and mineralization. Our study does show the MWCNT-collagen composite increased in the cell differentiation and mineralization level, than the plastic and collagen-only surface. But the mechanism of the interaction between MWCNT, collagen and cell were not clear yet. Therefore, efforts should be made to force on mechanical study of MWCNT and collagen. When considering the possible reason why cell differentiation and mineralization were changed, it seems important for future studies to address the possible study of the interaction between the MWCNT and collagen fiber, the surface properties of those composite scaffolds, and the interaction between the scaffold and cell. In addition, several studies on the effect of SWCNT on the lung tissue have been reported and there appears to be some inconsistency between the research findings. The conclusions we got during our research do show SWCNTs toxicity change at different exposure conditions, however, the reason behind that is not conclusive yet. Efforts should also be devoted to identifying the determinate of SWCNTs toxicity. In this respect, it can be recommended that more *in vivo* and *in vitro* toxicological research is needed to identify potential health endpoints related to occupational exposure to engineered nanoparticles.